
PLANNING AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 

Thursday, July 11, 2019 
SCRD Boardroom, 1975 Field Road, Sechelt, B.C. 

AGENDA  

CALL TO ORDER 9:30 a.m. 

AGENDA 

1. Adoption of Agenda

PRESENTATIONS AND DELEGATIONS 

2. John Roe, The Dead Boat Disposal Society
Regarding Collaboration with the SCRD through the Transport Canada
Abandoned Boat Program

Verbal 

3. a) Matthew Marquette, Resident of West Howe Sound
Regarding ALC Application 58605 Land Exclusion from and Inclusion into ALR 

b) David Morgan, Applicant/Owner
Regarding ALC Application 58605 Land Exclusion from and Inclusion into ALR

Verbal 

Verbal 

REPORTS 

4. Senior Planner – Application for Land Exclusion from and Inclusion into the
Agricultural Land Reserve for Morgan Property (ALC Application 58605)
Electoral Area F (Rural Planning) (Voting – A, B, D, E, F)

Annex A 
pp 1 - 22 

5. General Manager, Planning and Community Development – Planning and
Community Development Department – 2019 Q2 Report
Planning and Community Development (Voting – All )

Annex B 
pp 23 - 41 

6. General Manager, Planning and Community Development – Active Transportation
Infrastructure Memorandum of Understanding – Ministry of Transportation and
Infrastructure
Bicycle and Walking Paths (Voting – A, B, D, E, F)

Annex C 
pp 42 - 50 

7. Senior Planner – Sunshine Coast Regional District Zoning Amendment Bylaw No.
310.187, 2019 (Morrissey – 2284 Pixton Rd) Consideration of First Reading –
Electoral Area D
Electoral Area D (Rural Planning) (Voting – A, B, D, E, F)

Annex D 
pp 51 - 57 

8. Senior Planner – Provincial Referrals – Revised Recommendation for Private
Moorage in Secret Cove (Pope for Brynelsen) – Electoral Area B
Electoral Area B (Rural Planning) (Voting – A, B, D, E, F)

Annex E 
pp 58 - 93 

9. Planner – Provincial Referral CRN00085 for Log Handling, Storage and Floating
Work Camp (Tsain-Ko/ Capacity Forest Management) – Electoral Area A
Electoral Area A (Rural Planning) (Voting – A, B, D, E, F)

Annex F 
pp 94 - 121 



Planning and Community Development Committee Agenda – July 11, 2019 Page 2 

Annex G 
pp 122 - 126 

Annex H 
pp 127 - 131 

Annex I 
pp 132 - 136 

Annex J 
pp 137 - 139 

Annex K 
pp 140 - 141 

Annex L 
pp 142 - 143 

Annex M 
pp 144 - 145 

Annex N 
pp 146 - 148 

Annex O 
pp 149 - 152 

10. Manager, Planning and Development – Frontage Waiver FRW00004 (Carroll for 
Wakeford) – Electoral Area E
Electoral Area E (Rural Planning) (Voting – A, B, D, E, F)

11. Senior Planner – Frontage Waiver FRW00005 (Largo Road Community 
Development Ltd.) – Electoral Area D
Electoral Area D (Rural Planning) (Voting – A, B, D, E, F)

12. Executive Assistant – Gibsons and District Fire Protection Commission 
Amended Terms of Reference
Gibsons & District Fire Protection (Voting – E, F, Gibsons)

13. Agricultural Advisory Committee Minutes of June 11, 2019
Regional Planning (Voting - All)

14. Agricultural Advisory Committee Minutes of June 25, 2019
Regional Planning (Voting - All)

15. Natural Resource Advisory Committee Minutes of June 27, 2019
Regional Planning (Voting - All)

16. Electoral Area A (Egmont/Pender Harbour) APC Minutes of June 19, 2019 
Electoral Area A (Rural Planning) (Voting – A, B, D, E, F)

17. Electoral Area B (Halfmoon Bay) APC Minutes of June 25, 2019
Electoral Area B (Rural Planning) (Voting – A, B, D, E, F)

18. Electoral Area E (Elphinstone) APC Minutes of June 26, 2019
Electoral Area E (Rural Planning) (Voting – A, B, D, E, F)

19. Electoral Area F (West Howe Sound) APC Minutes of June 25, 2019 
Electoral Area F (Rural Planning) (Voting – A, B, D, E, F) 

Annex P 
pp 153 - 155 

COMMUNICATIONS 

20. Don Cunliffe, Halfmoon Bay Community Association, dated July 3, 2019
Regarding Request for Letter of Support for Sunshine Coast Community Forest
Funding Application.

Annex Q 
pp 156 

IN CAMERA 

ADJOURNMENT 



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT STAFF REPORT 
   

TO: Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019  

AUTHOR: Yuli Siao, Senior Planner 

SUBJECT: Application for Land Exclusion from and Inclusion into the Agricultural 
Land Reserve for Morgan Property (ALC Application 58605) 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

THAT the report titled Application for Land Exclusion from and Inclusion into the 
Agricultural Land Reserve for Morgan Property (ALC Application 58605) be received; 

AND THAT ALC Application 58605 be supported subject to the following conditions: 

1. The Agricultural Land Commission verifies the location and size of the non-ALR 
portion of land within the subject parcel as proposed by the applicant; 

2. The applicant provides Agricultural Land Commission with updated professional 
evidence indicating that the land proposed for exclusion is unsuitable for 
agriculture.  

AND THAT SCRD’s conditional support for ALC Application 58605 be forwarded to the 
Agricultural Land Commission. 

BACKGROUND 

The SCRD received a referral from the Agricultural Land Commission (ALC) regarding an 
application for excluding lands from the Agricultural Land Reserve (ALR) and including lands 
into the ALR.  The following are an application summary and a map showing the location of this 
non-ALR portion. 
 

 Table 1 - Application Summary 

Owner / Applicant: David Morgan 

Civic Address: 1685 Jensen Road 

Legal Description: DISTRICT LOT 1398 EXCEPT PORTIONS IN PLANS 11244, 11566, 16437  
21531 AND LMP23770 

Electoral Area: F - West Howe Sound 

Parcel Area: 39.8 ha 

OCP Land Use: Agricultural 

Land Use Zone: AG (Agricultural) 

ANNEX A

1



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 
Application for Land Exclusion from and Inclusion into the Agricultural Land 
Reserve for Morgan Property (ALC Application 58605) 

Page 2 of 7 
 

 
2019-July-11-PCDC-report-ALR00010-landswap-Morgan.doc 

Map 1 (shaded area is ALR) 

 

According to ALC and SCRD mapping, the subject property is within the ALR except a 0.3-
hectare triangular piece of land in the north middle section of the parcel. However, the applicant 
indicates that based on BC assessment records and a BC land survey completed on June 24, 
1981, the non-ALR land is 1.16-hectare and is located west of the location of the ALC mapping 
(Attachment A). It is recommended that the ALC verifies the location and size of this land prior 
to making a decision on the application. 

The applicant proposes to include the non-ALR land into the ALR, and in exchange, exclude 
from the ALR a piece of equally sized land on the northeast corner of the parcel, as shown in 
the Map 2 on the next page. 

As the triangular non-ALR area of the parcel is currently land locked and surrounded by 
agricultural lands on all sides, it is not only unsuitable for non-farm development, it can also 
conflict with the surrounding agricultural uses. It can only be accessed by a road through the 
ALR portion of the parcel. Such a road will occupy farm land and interfere with farming activities. 
The intent of the proposal is to consolidate the farm parcel into one contiguous land mass, so 
that the potential conflict by the non-ALR area can be removed and land use efficiency of the 
farm parcel can be improved.   

The northeast portion of the parcel proposed for exclusion has steep topography with an 
average of 25% slope. A 1986 agrology report indicates that his area has very limited 
agricultural capability. This area is adjacent to the end of Newman Road and an existing 
residential subdivision. Therefore the applicant considers this area suitable for potential future 
non-agricultural development, but no development proposal is included in the application. Any 
future development would be subject to the planning approval process that could include 

subject parcel 

non-ALR 
land 

2



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 
Application for Land Exclusion from and Inclusion into the Agricultural Land 
Reserve for Morgan Property (ALC Application 58605) 

Page 3 of 7 
 

 
2019-July-11-PCDC-report-ALR00010-landswap-Morgan.doc 

rezoning, subdivision and/or an OCP amendment, with related public participation opportunities. 
The scope of this report is limited to the ALC referral.   

Map 2  Land exchange 

Discussion 

West Howe Sound Official Community Plan (OCP) Policies 

Agricultural Land Use 

The subject parcel is designated Agricultural in the OCP. Policies of the OCP support the 
preservation of agricultural land and protection of agricultural activities from conflict with  
non-agricultural uses within the ALR and the Rural Residential designated lands adjacent to the 
ALR. The proposal is consistent with these policies as it seeks to optimize the layout of 
agricultural lands and reduces conflict with non-agricultural activities. The area proposed for 
exclusion remains within the Agricultural designation of the OCP. Future non-agricultural uses of 
this land will be subject to an OCP amendment application.  

Development Permit Areas 

The middle portion of the parcel including the non-ALR triangle is within a number of 
Development Permit Areas for Aquifer Protection and Storm Water Management, Stream 
Riparian Assessment, and Ravines and Creek Corridor Protection. This poses significant 
constraints on non-agricultural developments such as construction of dwellings, but farm 
operation is exempt from requirements of the Stream Riparian Assessment and Aquifer 
Protection and Storm Water Management Development Permit Areas. Therefore by inclusion 
into the ALR, the non-ALR portion can become an integral part of the large ALR parcel and the 
surrounding ecological system. 

 

area for 
inclusion 

area for 
exclusion 

3



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 
Application for Land Exclusion from and Inclusion into the Agricultural Land 
Reserve for Morgan Property (ALC Application 58605) 

Page 4 of 7 
 

 
2019-July-11-PCDC-report-ALR00010-landswap-Morgan.doc 

Zoning Bylaw No. 310 Land Use Designation 

Within Zoning Bylaw No. 310, the subject parcel is zoned AG (Agricultural). The AG zone 
permits primarily a range of agricultural uses and residential uses. The area proposed for 
exclusion remains within the AG zone. Potential future non-agricultural uses or subdivision of 
the excluded portion of land would be subject to a zoning amendment application. 

Agricultural Area Plan 

The Agricultural Area Plan identifies protecting farms, improving farming opportunities and 
expanding access to land for agriculture as a strategic goal. The Plan calls for actions to adopt 
“no net loss to agriculture” criterion for evaluating land development proposals in order to help 
ensure the overall availability of arable land for agriculture is not compromised by other land 
uses.   

The proposed land exchange may result in no net loss of agricultural lands only if it can be 
verified that the ALR land proposed for exclusion is unsuitable for agriculture. It is 
recommended that updated professional evidence be provided to the ALC to verify such land 
quality prior to making a decision on the application. The area proposed for inclusion into the 
ALR is mainly intended to optimize the layout of the farm and remove conflict with non-farm use 
in this area. Even if it may not be suitable for agricultural use, it can form an integral part of the 
farm and preclude non-agricultural uses. 

Regional Sustainability Plan: We Envision for the Sunshine Coast 

The Plan sets community food security as a strategic direction with the objective of increasing 
the amount of and access to locally grown and produced food.   

The proposal is aligned with this strategic direction of the Plan as the consolidation of land 
masses of the parcel could help improve productivity of the farm. 

Servicing and Infrastructure Considerations 

The western portion of the property is outside of areas serviced by regional water system, 
refuse collection and fire protection. The area proposed for exclusion is located adjacent to a 
residential neighbourhood which is within the service area. Whether or not services may be 
extended to the area should future non-agricultural uses be proposed, along with all other 
aspects of development, would be reviewed by the SCRD through an OCP/zoning amendment 
application.  

AAC Comments 

The Agricultural Advisory Committee recommends support for the application.  

APC Comments 

The APC recommended that Application for Land Exclusion from and Inclusion into the 
Agricultural Land Reserve for Morgan Property (ALC Application 58605) be supported under 
conditions as noted in the staff report, and for the following reasons: 

• It is logical to take the non-agricultural piece out of the ALR and put in piece of higher 
class ALR land to create a contiguous swath.  

4



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 
Application for Land Exclusion from and Inclusion into the Agricultural Land 
Reserve for Morgan Property (ALC Application 58605) 

Page 5 of 7 
 

 
2019-July-11-PCDC-report-ALR00010-landswap-Morgan.doc 

• The existing configuration would have to allow an access road into that non-ALR section, 
taking up agricultural land. 

• The non-ALR portion is near the creek; making the switch will protect the creek more. 

Feedback from Residents 

Seven letters and a petition signed by 32 adjacent residents have been received expressing 
concerns for and objection to the application (Attachment B). The main concerns of the 
residents’ responses are the lack of notice about the application and opportunity to participate in 
the process, the validity of agricultural suitability of the lands proposed for exchange, and 
potential impact of future development on this neighbourhood. These concerns are addressed 
as follows. 

Notification 

As the application is administered by the ALC, the SCRD does not make a decision on the 
application, nor does it deal with notification requirements. The ALC requires a notification sign 
be placed at the midpoint of the property along a public road. The parcel does not have a direct 
frontage on the open portion of Jensen Road or Newman Road, thus it appears that the only 
location for the sign meeting this requirement is on Port Mellon Highway, despite its being far 
away from the neighbourhood. The ALC requires the applicant to serve notice of the application 
to owners of land in the ALR that share a common boundary with the subject property. Although 
some parcels of the adjacent residential subdivision share a common boundary with the subject 
parcel, none are within the ALR. This appears to be the reason why these residents were not 
served notices.     

Public Participation 

The role of a local government in an ALC application is to consult the local Agricultural Advisory 
Committee (AAC) and Advisory Planning Commission (APC), and provide a recommendation 
on the application. The SCRD Planning and Development Procedures and Fees Bylaw No. 522 
does not stipulate a process for consultation with neighbouring residents for referred 
applications that are compliant with the OCP and zoning bylaw.  

The responses from area residents were received after publication of the AAC meeting agenda. 
Staff provided a brief summary of these responses at the AAC meeting on March 26, 2019. A 
number of area residents attended this meeting. Staff also advised the representative of the 
area residents of the opportunity to attend the APC meeting and appear as a delegation at a 
Planning and Community Development Committee meeting when the application would be 
reviewed by the Board. 

Agricultural Suitability 

A number of the responders believe that the area proposed for inclusion has no agricultural 
capability whereas the area proposed for exclusion does. This issue has been discussed in 
detail in this report, which recommends verification of the agricultural suitability of these lands 
as a condition for approval of the application. 

Neighbourhood Impact 

Area residents are concerned that future non-agricultural development, especially housing 
development in the area proposed for exclusion, will have a negative impact on the existing 

5



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 
Application for Land Exclusion from and Inclusion into the Agricultural Land 
Reserve for Morgan Property (ALC Application 58605) 

Page 6 of 7 
 

 
2019-July-11-PCDC-report-ALR00010-landswap-Morgan.doc 

servicing capacity of the neighbourhood, particularly water supply, sewage disposal, and 
drainage. There are also concerns on the undesirable effect of increased traffic, as well as loss 
of seclusion of the neighbourhood.  

No development proposal or application has been made. It is not possible to analyze potential 
impacts. 

As discussed in the report, the subject of this ALC application is the inclusion and exclusion of 
ALR lands, other than future development of these lands. These lands will remain within the 
Agricultural designations of the current OCP and zoning bylaw. If the subject ALC application is 
approved, future non-agricultural development will be subject to OCP and zoning amendment 
applications. At that time, all aspects of the development such as land use, servicing, traffic, 
etc., will be reviewed. Area residents would have opportunities to participate in the public 
consultation process of those planning applications.  

Timeline for next steps 

The SCRD Planning and Community Development Committee may make a recommendation on 
the application. The SCRD Board may then adopt a resolution noting its recommendation for 
either support, denial or conditional support of the application. The recommendation will be 
forwarded to the Agricultural Land Commission (ALC) for consideration of a final decision. ALC 
decisions are published on the Commission’s website (https://www.alc.gov.bc.ca). 

CONCLUSION 

The proposed exchange of ALR lands intends to improve land use of the farm, and reduce 
conflict with non-farm uses. The proposal is consistent with the West Howe Sound OCP and 
Zoning Bylaw No. 310 of the SCRD.  Subject to verification of the location, size and agricultural 
capability of the lands for exchange, the proposal may result in no net loss of agricultural land. 
Staff recommend supporting this application conditional upon ALC receiving evidence for the 
above noted verifications.   

 
Attachments 

Attachment A – Land survey sketch plan  

Attachment B – Responses from area residents 

 

Reviewed by: 
Manager X – A. Allen Finance  
GM X – I. Hall Legislative  
A/CAO X – A. Legault Other   

  

6

https://www.alc.gov.bc.ca/alc/content/home


Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 
Application for Land Exclusion from and Inclusion into the Agricultural Land 
Reserve for Morgan Property (ALC Application 58605) 

Page 7 of 7 
 

 
2019-July-11-PCDC-report-ALR00010-landswap-Morgan.doc 

Attachment A      

 

7



Attachment B

8



9



10



11



12



13



14







17



18



19



20



21



22



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT STAFF REPORT 

TO:  Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 

AUTHOR: Ian Hall, General Manager, Planning and Community Development 

SUBJECT: PLANNING AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT – 2019 Q2 REPORT 

RECOMMENDATION 
THAT the report titled Planning and Community Development Department – 2019 Q2 
Report be received. 

BACKGROUND 
The purpose of this report is to provide an update on activity in the Planning and Community 
Development Department for the Second Quarter (Q2) 2019: April 1 to June 30, 2019.  

The report provides information from the following divisions: Planning & Development, Building, 
Ports & Docks, Facility Services & Parks, Recreation & Community Partnerships, and Pender 
Harbour Aquatic & Fitness Centre. 

ANNEX B

23



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 
Planning and Community Development Department – 2019 Q2 Report  Page 2 of 19 
 

 
2019-JUL-11 PCD Department - 2019 Q2 Report 

PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT DIVISION 
 
Regional Planning [500] 
Key projects in Q2 included:  

• Staff analyzed the BCTS 2019-2023 Operating Plan referral, per the terms of the 
Communication Protocol.  
 

• Planning provided coordinating information for a Transit Park and Ride report to the 
Transportation Advisory Committee. 
 

Rural Planning [504] 
Key projects in Q2 included:  

• Zoning Bylaw 310 Review – A Public Participation report was provided to the Board in 
Q2 summarizing feedback from community consultation events in late 2018 and the 
questionnaire released late in Q1. Planning staff continue to work with the Planning 
Consultants, Arlington Group on preparation of a draft bylaw. 

• Short Term Rental Accommodations –Staff reported to Committee on the recommended 
changes to the zoning amendment bylaws in Q2. A public hearing concerning these 
bylaws was held on June 18, 2019. Staff will review the results of the public hearing and 
overall process and prepare a recommendation moving forward. 
 

• In Q2, staff continued analysis of referral feedback on a temporary movable small home 
pilot project (applying temporary use permits), taking into account public participation 
input on Zoning Bylaw No. 310 and short term rental accommodation.  
 

  

24



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 
Planning and Community Development Department – 2019 Q2 Report  Page 3 of 19 
 

 
2019-JUL-11 PCD Department - 2019 Q2 Report 

OPERATIONS 

Development Applications Statistics 

Applications Received 
Area 

A 
Area

B 
Area

D 
Area 

E 
Area 

F 
Q2 

2019 
YTD 
Total 

Development Permit 2 2 3 3 6 16 36 
Development Variance Permit    1 1 2 6 

Subdivision 1 1 1 1  4 8 
Rezoning/OCP 1  1   2 7 

Board of Variance     1 1 2 
Agricultural Land Reserve      0 1 

Frontage Waiver   1 1  2 3 
Strata Conversion   1   1 1 

Total 4 3 7 6 8 28 64 
 

There were 28 Development Applications received in Q2 2019 compared to 25 in Q2 2018. 

• The 2018 total for Development Applications was 88.  
• The 2017 total for Development Applications was 80.  
• The 2016 total for Development Applications was 57.  
• The 2015 total for Development Applications was 51. 

 

Provincial and Local Government Referrals 

Referrals DoS ToG SIGD Isld 
Trst 

SqN Province Other* Q2 
2019 

YTD 
Total 

Referrals      6 1 7 13 
* BC Timber Sales 5-year Operating Plan Referral re-sent on May 1, 2019 with revised 
information. 
 
There were 7 Referrals received in Q2 2019 compared to 9 in Q2 2018. 
 

• The 2018 total for Referrals was 24.  
• The 2017 total for Referrals was 36.  
• The 2016 total for Referrals was 34.  
• The 2015 total for Referrals was 48. 

 

Building Permit Reviews Completed by Planning Staff 

BP Review 
Area 

A 
Area 

B 
Area 

D 
Area 

E 
Area 

F 
Q2 

2019 
YTD 
Total 

Building Permit Reviews by 
Planning & Development Div. 

3 0 7 0 3 13 57 

 
There were 13 Building Permit Reviews completed in Q2 2019 compared to 86 in Q2 2018. 
 

• The 2018 total for Building Permit Reviews was 254.  
• The 2017 total for Building Permit Reviews was 241.  
• The 2016 total for Building Permit Reviews was 293.  
• The 2015 total for Building Permit Reviews was 215. 

25



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 
Planning and Community Development Department – 2019 Q2 Report  Page 4 of 19 
 

 
2019-JUL-11 PCD Department - 2019 Q2 Report 

Development Applications Revenue 

Revenue Stats Area A Area B Area D Area E Area F 
Q2 

2019 
YTD 
Total 

DP $1,000 $1,000 $1,500 $1,900 $3,000 $8,400 $17,000 
DVP    $500 $500 $1,000 $2,500 

Subdivision $1,180 $1,195 $700 $865  $3,940 $3,940 
Rezoning/ 

OCP 
$2,400  $2,400    $4,800 $11,975 

BoV     $500 $500 $1,000 
ALR      $0 $1,500 

Strata 
Conversion 

  $650   $650 
 

$650 

Total $4,580 $4,595 $2,850 $3,265 $4,000 $19,290 $38,565 
 

Development Applications revenue was $38,565 in Q2 2019 compared to $20,605 in Q2 2018.  

• The 2018 total for Development Applications revenue was $69,402.  
• The 2017 total for Development Applications revenue was $63,360.  
• The 2016 total for Development Application revenue was $54,505. 

 
  

26



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 
Planning and Community Development Department – 2019 Q2 Report  Page 5 of 19 
 

 
2019-JUL-11 PCD Department - 2019 Q2 Report 

BUILDING DIVISION 
Construction activity for Q2 2019 reflects continued strength. The number of inquiries received 
through the Building Division regarding the building permit process indicates this strength will 
continue through Q3. 

Monthly Building Statistics 2019 

 
 

Quarterly Building Statistics Comparison 2017 - 2019 

 
 
 

27



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 
Planning and Community Development Department – 2019 Q2 Report  Page 6 of 19 
 

 
2019-JUL-11 PCD Department - 2019 Q2 Report 

 
Building Revenue Comparison Q2 2010 – 2019 

 
 

 

Quarterly Value of Construction Yearly Comparison 2017 – 2019 

 
 
 
 
 

28



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 
Planning and Community Development Department – 2019 Q2 Report  Page 7 of 19 
 

 
2019-JUL-11 PCD Department - 2019 Q2 Report 

 
Building Permit Revenue by Electoral Area – Q2 2019 

 
 
 
Building Permit Revenue by Electoral Area – 2019 to date 

  

Area A
31%

Area B
6%

Area D
30%

Area E
13%

Area F
20%

SIGD
0%

Building Permit Revenue by Electoral Area
Second Quarter

Area A
28%

Area B
12%

Area D
24%

Area E
16%

Area F
19%

SIGD
-1%

2019 Annual Building Permit Revenue to date by Electoral 
Area

29



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 
Planning and Community Development Department – 2019 Q2 Report  Page 8 of 19 
 

 
2019-JUL-11 PCD Department - 2019 Q2 Report 

PORTS AND DOCKS DIVISION  
OPERATIONS 
In Q2, 2019 inspections and preventative maintenance were completed at all 9 docks. Reported 
deficiencies are being designed/costed for action in Q3. 

A barge struck Keats Landing dock on June 25, 2019 causing damage to a number of piles. As 
a safety precaution the wharf approach was closed to vehicles. Notification were made to Keats 
Camp, POMO, water taxis, etc. Staff are working to deliver an emergency repair as soon as 
possible, noting that summer is a busy time for campers, seasonal residents and locals. 

 

PORTS MONITORS (POMO) COMMITTEE 

The POMO approach of “eyes on the dock” to identify condition, maintenance or operation 
issues provided useful feedback during Q2 that enables SCRD to respond to issues more 
quickly and more efficiently. 
 
In Q2 2019, POMO was helpful in gathering feedback on planned capital projects including 
project design, timing and local service considerations. 

Staff provided updates to POMO around inspection/maintenance visits and on key repair items. 

A POMO meeting is planned for early Q3. 

MAJOR PROJECTS 

• Ports load ratings and safety assessment contract was awarded to Herold Engineering in 
2018. Reports were received in Q1 and are being reviewed by staff. Staff are preparing a 
summary analysis and will be seeking input from POMO in Q3. 

• Construction tender(s) for capital projects were developed in Q1 2019. Release of the first 
tender (Vaucroft) occurred in Q2.  

 
 
  

30



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 
Planning and Community Development Department – 2019 Q2 Report  Page 9 of 19 
 

 
2019-JUL-11 PCD Department - 2019 Q2 Report 

FACILITY SERVICES DIVISION  
 
Building Maintenance [313] 
Building Maintenance Tickets April 1 – June 30 
Tickets received  65 
Tickets resolved     61 
Open (unresolved) tickets as of Dec 31st   22 

 
Example Projects: 

• Prep and repaint SCEP storage containers at Elphinstone Secondary School due to 
vandalism.    

• Annual preventative maintenance related to bird mitigation at Gibsons Library (protects 
and extends the life of roof. 

• Furniture repairs in Field Road business centre room.  
• Prep for maintenance to Field Road entry way soffit and signage. To be completed 

summer 2019. 
• GACC: Youth center wheel chair ramp upgrade to meet building codes completed in Q2.  
• GDAF: Developed troubleshooting guide for pool operations in Q2. Supports sustainable 

operations by reducing service interruptions. 
• SAC: New Family Change Room benches constructed. 
• PHAFC: Preparation for annual maintenance and repairs during August pool shutdown 

(multiple projects). 
 

  

31



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 
Planning and Community Development Department – 2019 Q2 Report  Page 10 of 19 
 

 
2019-JUL-11 PCD Department - 2019 Q2 Report 

Recreation Facilities [613] 
 
GACC  

• Batteries replaced in electric floor scrubber. 
• Roof top HVAC unit #6 damper motor failed and replaced. 
• Intake filters replaced on all roof top HVAC units.  
• Two domestic hot water tanks replaced as part of a capital replacement plan. 
• Zamboni ice resurfacer sent to Kendrick Equipment for annual maintenance and electric 

drive motor replacement. 
• Two hockey net frames repaired, new netting, bumpers and pads installed. 
• Site meeting completed for Fall Protection and Hazardous Materials audit tender. 
• Ongoing preventative maintenance. 

 
SAC 

• Temporary repair completed on pool leak in underwater light conduit.   
• DDC software upgrade completed. 
• Substantial repainting in gym and cardio rooms to coincide with fitness equipment 

replacement.  Colours were changed to brighten up the rooms. 
• Pool basin leak repairs completed by contractor during annual maintenance closure. 
• 2019 annual maintenance shut down completed. 
• Site meeting completed for Fall Protection and Hazardous Materials audit tender. 
• Ongoing preventative maintenance. 

 
SCA 

• Annual overhead door maintenance and inspections completed. 
• Boiler circulation pump failed and replaced. 
• Community room repainted as part of annual maintenance work. 
• Change rooms and cold area painting has been started as part of an annual 

maintenance work.  
• Work continues on SCA machine room exhaust fan upgrade order from 

WorkSafeBC. Pre-order of exhaust fan has been completed, ETA middle of July.  All 
engineer design work has been completed and installation tender released. 

• Chiller replacement and refrigeration plant upgrade project work has commenced. 
• Site meeting completed for Fall Protection and Hazardous Materials audit tender. 
• Ongoing preventative maintenance. 

 
GDAF 

• Several work orders completed for minor repairs. 
• Mechanical equipment trouble shooting guides for aquatics staff have been started. 
• Rebuild kits installed on two chlorinator pumps. 
• Preparation and planning for annual maintenance closure. 
• Site meeting completed for Fall Protection and Hazardous Materials audit tender. 
• Ongoing preventative maintenance. 

  

32



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 
Planning and Community Development Department – 2019 Q2 Report  Page 11 of 19 
 

 
2019-JUL-11 PCD Department - 2019 Q2 Report 

PARKS DIVISION  
 
Cemeteries [400] 
Q2 Statistics – April 1 to June 30  

 2019 Q2 2018 Q2 2019 Q2 2018 Q2 
Service Burials Burials Cremations Cremations 
Plots Sold 4 3 2 4 
Niches Sold N/A N/A 0 5 
Interments 0 2 1 9 
Inurnments (Niche) N/A N/A 0  9 

 
• Renewal of Seaview Cemetery maintenance contract; 
• Coordination with Recreation Services Division on updating recreation guide material related 

to cemeteries; 
• Clean up and polishing of Seaview Cemetery overhead arch entrance sign; and, 
• Maintenance and repairs to Seaview Cemetery perimeter fencing along HWY 101. 
 
Parks [650]  
PROJECTS 
 
Parks, Trails and Beach Accesses 
 
Key projects, maintenance and repair activities: 
 
Area A – Egmont Pender Harbour 
• Initial consultation with water access residents at Ruby Lake concerning the re-development 

and improvements at the Ramp Road Community Boat Launch; 
• Hazard tree mitigation and vegetation clean up completed at Ramp Road boat launch in 

partnership with the BC Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure; 
• Seasonal clean up and preparation at Katherine Lake Campground. Hazard tree 

assessment and mitigation at Katherine Lake Campground; 
• Lighting and energy efficiency upgrades to public washroom facilities at Katherine Lake 

Campground; 
• Replaced water system pressure tank at Katherine Lake Campground; 
• Application submitted to the province and under review for required adjustments to annual 

regulatory approvals to allow for the addition of supplemental, clean sand above the high 
water mark at both Dan Bosch Community Park and Katherine Lake Campground beach; 

• Hazard tree mitigation work at Pender Hill Park; 
• Development of a permit application to the Heritage Conservation Branch to perform a 

focused archaeological impact assessment and improve recreational access and address 
erosion issues at Baker Beach Park; 

• Removal of unauthorized informal structures along trail at Lily Lake Park; 
• Beach access stair repair at Daniel Point; 
• New signage installed at John Daly Park, including shashishalhem (shíshálh language) 

name; 
 
  

33



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 
Planning and Community Development Department – 2019 Q2 Report  Page 12 of 19 
 

 
2019-JUL-11 PCD Department - 2019 Q2 Report 

Area B – Halfmoon Bay 
• Maintenance improvements to Trout Lake Recreation Site, including signage install, picnic 

table reclamation and removal of unauthorized fire ring; 
• Emergency Services communications station perimeter brushing and wildfire risk prevention 

at Connor Park; 
• Trout Lake toilet pumped out and cleaned for beginning of operational season; 
• Trout Lake Recreation Site maintenance contract renewal; 
• Hazard tree mitigation following significant storm/wind event and damage at George 

Cormack Park; 
• Split rail fence constructed and installed on O’Brien road at George Cormack Park; 
 
Area D – Roberts Creek 
• Seasonal staining and protection of benches and picnic tables at Roberts Creek Pier; 
• High tide rock and drainage repair at Marlene Road Beach Access; 
• Additional sand delivered and placed at Cliff Gilker Park children’s play area; 
• Filled and capped road deviations at Cliff Gilker Park; 
• Hazard tree mitigation at Cliff Gilker Park; 
• Asset renewal of the Gulf Road Beach access, including 2 staircases, a platform, handrails, 

crib steps and signage standardization; 
• Additional grass seed placed near the public toilets at Roberts Creek Pier; 
• Annual maintenance upgrades to the Roberts Creek Pier, including brushing, bench install, 

erosion correction, seasonal hazard mitigation and re-capping of trail surface material; 
• Collaboration with the Sunshine Coast Golf Club on field irrigation, aeration practices and 

potential resource sharing; 
• Assisted the community with the Henderson Beach knotweed and invasive species removal 

volunteer project; 
 
Area E – Elphinstone 
• Culvert replacement at 7th street and Ocean Beach Esplanade Trail; 
• Hazard tree assessment and removal at Frank West Hall and Maryanne West all-weather 

field; 
• Chaster Park parking lot pothole repair, capping and grading to improve user access; 
• All Electoral Area E trails have received seasonal maintenance, brushing and upkeep; 
• Support to roof replacement project at Frank West/Cliff Mahlman Hall (on track); 
 
Area F – West Howe Sound 
• Fertilization and seeding at Shirley Macey Dog Park; 
• Filled and capped road deviations at Shirley Macey Park; 
• Shirley Macey Water Park opened, operated per Water Conservation Regulations;  
• Langdale Falls Trail (Sprockids Park) safety mitigation related to erosion. Safety issue 

resolved with trail route decommission and diversion; 
• Renewal of Gambier Island parks and trails maintenance contract; 
• Planning for accessibility improvements at Anavets Park, Gambier Island; 
• Support to Grantham’s Hall rehabilitation project;  
 
  

34



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 
Planning and Community Development Department – 2019 Q2 Report  Page 13 of 19 
 

 
2019-JUL-11 PCD Department - 2019 Q2 Report 

All Areas: 
• Coordination with Recreation Services Division on updating recreation guide material related 

to parks and the future implementation of a parks-specific marketing initiative; 
• Key parks staff attended SCRD contract management and procurement training; 
• Posts bolted in for operational season at Fullerton beach access; 
• Parks Superintendent attended the annual British Columbia Parks and Recreation 

Symposium in Whistler May 1-3; 
• Collaborative meetings with the BC Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure on shared 

issues. Action plan established and is being systematically implemented with shared 
resources as time permits; 

• Annual fire extinguisher inspection and re-charge complete; 
• Scope of work finalized for the purchase of a new Parks Division work truck. Tender 

documents being prepared for advertisement; 
• Hired, trained and implemented seasonal summer student staff. 
 
Parks Planning 
 
• Collaboration with Coast Mountain Bike Trail Association is underway to develop work plan 

and MOU for maintenance of Sprockids Recreation Site; 
• Community consultation has commenced with on-site meetings and online questionnaire 

regarding potential improvements for Crab Road beach access; 
• MOU has been developed with Pender Harbour Living Heritage Society regarding Hotel 

Lake access and is awaiting signatures; 
• Parks Sign Guidelines are currently being developed to improve signage consistency 

throughout SCRD Park and trail system; 
• Initial research and community collaboration is commencing to explore the potential for disc 

golf within Connor Park/Welcome Woods; 
• Staff are exploring the potential to enter into an MOU with a community group for the 

maintenance of Secret Cove Falls Recreation site. 

Sports Fields 

Number of bookings per sports field in 2019 Q2 compared to 2018 Q2 bookings:  

Sports Field  2019 Q2 Bookings 2018 Q2 Bookings 
Lions Field 2 1 
Cliff Gilker 199 202 
Connor Park 187 175 
Maryanne West 0 0 
Shirley Macey Park 130 120 

 

• Slicing, cutting and fertilizing of Pender Harbour (Lions), Cliff Gilker Park, Shirley Macey 
Park and Connor Park sports fields complete; 

• Irrigation heads replaced on all sports fields where required; 
• Scope of work and procurement package for the sports field water efficiency investigation 

project prepared and to be tendered; 
• Pender Harbour (Lions) Field groundwater system brought into seasonal operation; and, 
• Irrigation repairs and zone 4 and zone 5 electrical deficiency corrected at Cliff Gilker sports 

field to promote water efficiency. 
 
  

35



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 
Planning and Community Development Department – 2019 Q2 Report  Page 14 of 19 
 

 
2019-JUL-11 PCD Department - 2019 Q2 Report 

Community Halls  

Number of bookings in Community Halls in 2019 Q2 compared to 2018 Q2 bookings: 

Community Hall  2019 Q2 Bookings 2018 Q2 Bookings 
Eric Cardinall 58 55 
Frank West Hall 49 47 
Coopers Green 54 45 
Chaster House 52 51 

 

• Divisional collaboration with Building maintenance to effectively coordinate shared 
community hall safety and maintenance upgrades and priorities (ongoing); 

• Frank West Hall/Cliff Mahlman Fire Hall roof replacement project start up; 
• Working with the Child Development Center at the Pender Harbour Ranger Station on 

the construction of a play area sunshade on the property; 
• Lease renewal for septic infrastructure with the Pender Harbour Authority; 
• Renewal of annual community hall floor cleaning contract; and, 
• Grantham’s Landing Community Hall cleaned out and all related materials relocated in 

anticipation of the rehabilitation project. 
 

Dakota Ridge [680] 

• The Dakota Ridge Winter Recreation facility was closed for the season on April 1, 2019;  
• Staff are preparing for annual maintenance for the trails, facilities and access road; and, 
• Coordination with Recreation Services Division on updating recreation guide material 

related to Dakota Ridge. 
• Annual visitation to Dakota Ridge is challenging to calculate due to how season passes 

are sold, fee structure (sometimes by vehicle, sometimes by person), and challenges 
with volunteers counting visitors on busy days. It is estimated that this facility receives 
approximately 8,000 individual visits per season. This number was substantiated in 2016 
by an electronic trail counter.  
 

Annual Dakota Ridge revenues from ticket, season passes and SCRD program sales:    

   
Item 2016-2017 Season 2017-2018 2018-2019 
Season Passes $   3,582 $11,913 $10,757 
Ticket  $   1,220 $  1,346 $     817 
Programs $ 27,423 $24,094 $26,092 
Total  $ 32,225 $37,353 $37,666 

36



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 
Planning and Community Development Department – 2019 Q2 Report  Page 15 of 19 
 

 
2019-JUL-11 PCD Department - 2019 Q2 Report 

RECREATION AND COMMUNITY PARTNERSHIPS DIVISION  

Project Highlights 
 

• Fitness Equipment Replacement Project: new equipment installed at GACC, SAC and 
PHAFC. Surplus equipment donation to shíshálh Nation completed. Response from 
patrons has been positive. 

 
Gibsons and District Aquatic Facility 
 
Admissions and Program Registrations  

GDAF Q2 2019 Q2 2018 
Admission Visits 5,362 4,737 

Program Registrations 644 1,381 
 
This represents an increase of 625 admission visits during the period of April 1 to June 30, 
2019.  
 
Included in this admission total are 377 L.I.F.E Admissions for those requiring participation 
assistance for 2019. 
 
Program registration decrease of 737 due to Water Safety School swim lessons now captured 
under the monthly facility rentals admissions stats.  
 
Gibsons and Area Community Centre  

Admissions and Program Registrations 

GACC Q2 2019 Q2 2018 
Admission Visits 18,138 18,440 

Program Registrations 1,560 1,843 
 
This represents a decrease of 302 admission visits in the April 1 to June 30, 2019 period.   
 
Included in this admission total are 360 L.I.F.E admissions for those requiring participation 
assistance for 2019 and arena facility rental attendance. 
 
Program registration decrease of 283 mainly due to the Happy Hearts programs seeing less 
registration. 

  

37



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 
Planning and Community Development Department – 2019 Q2 Report  Page 16 of 19 
 

 
2019-JUL-11 PCD Department - 2019 Q2 Report 

Sunshine Coast Arena 

Admissions and Program Registrations 

SCA Q2 2019 Q2 2018 
Admissions 4,781 3,824 

Program Registrations 76 105 
 

This represents an increase of 957 admission visits in the April 1 to June 30, 2019 period.   
 
Included in this total are 43 L.I.F.E admissions for those requiring participation assistance for 
2019.   
 
Program registration decrease of 29 

Sechelt Aquatic Centre  

Admissions and Program Registrations 

SAC Q2 2019 Q2 2018 
Admission Visits 29,032 30,736 

Program Registrations 2,633 3,559 
 
This represents a decrease of 1704 admission visits in the April 1 to June 30, 2019 period. 
 
Included in this total are 1395 L.I.F.E. admissions for those requiring participation assistance for 
2019.  
 
Program registration decrease of 926 mainly due to no Happy Hearts program registrations and 
Water Safety School lessons now captured under the monthly facility rentals admissions stats.  
 

  

38



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 
Planning and Community Development Department – 2019 Q2 Report  Page 17 of 19 
 

 
2019-JUL-11 PCD Department - 2019 Q2 Report 

Pender Harbor Aquatic and Fitness Centre 

Admissions and Program Registrations 
 

PHAFC Q2 2019 Q2 2018 
Admission Visits 3,701 3,966 

Program Registrations 1,427 1,449 
 
This represents a decrease of 265 visits for the April 1 to June 30, 2019 period. 
 
Included in this total are 87 L.I.F.E admissions for those on low income for 2019.  
 
Program registration decrease of 22. 
 
Special events 
 

• Easter Scavenger Hunt involving Facebook posts and finding the clues at the facility 
April 15-20. Approximately 40 participants. 

• Annual Swim Lesson Grad Barbeque hosted by the Pender Harbour Aquatic Society on 
June 5. Approximately 50 participants. 
 

 
 
 
 

  

39



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 
Planning and Community Development Department – 2019 Q2 Report  Page 18 of 19 
 

 
2019-JUL-11 PCD Department - 2019 Q2 Report 

CORPORATE SUSTAINABILITY 

As a Climate Action Charter signatory and in order to be eligible for the Climate Action Revenue 
Incentive Program (CARIP), SCRD calculates its greenhouse gas emissions and completes the 
Climate Action / Carbon Neutral Progress Survey every year. The 2017 Survey was shared with 
the Province in May and is publicly available on the SCRD website.  
 
SCRD contributed 1,088 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (tCO2e) in 2018 as part of its 
Traditional Service Inventory (TSI). The scope of TSI emissions are defined for local 
governments by the Province of British Columbia.  
 
Figure 1 compares TSI emissions over the past six years. The increase in 2018 is due to 
increased fleet fuel use, increased natural gas use at recreation centres (note that figures are 
not weather normalized), and the inclusion of the fuel used by some contractors that were not 
counted in the past (accounting improvements).  
 

 
 
Although out of TSI’s scope, the SCRD also generates greenhouse gas emissions from the 
Transit Service and the Sechelt Landfill. In 2018, the Transit Service contributed 1,149 tCO2e 
and the Sechelt Landfill contributed 19,981tCO2e. Transit emissions have grown with the 
expansion of service and likely reduce overall community transportation emissions. The Sechelt 
Landfill emissions are calculated for reporting to Environment and Climate Change Canada 
(ECCC) and are predominantly methane from decomposing organic material. Figure 2 
represents calculated emissions breakdown for 2018 for TSI, Transit Service and the Sechelt 
Landfill combined. 

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Figure 1. SCRD Greenhouse Gas Emissions 
Traditional Service Inventory 
(tonnes of CO2 equivalent)

40



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 
Planning and Community Development Department – 2019 Q2 Report  Page 19 of 19 
 

 
2019-JUL-11 PCD Department - 2019 Q2 Report 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 

SCRD Traditional 
Services Inventory

5%

Transit
5%

Landfill
90%

Figure 2. SCRD Greenhouse Gas 
Emissions 2018

Reviewed by: 
Manager X- A. Allen 

X- D. Cole 
X- K. Preston 
X- K. Robinson 
X- A. Whittleton 

Finance  

GM  X – I. Hall Legislative  
A/CAO  X – A. Legault Other  

41



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT STAFF REPORT 

TO: Planning and Community Development Committee, July 11, 2019 

AUTHOR: Ian Hall, General Manager, Planning and Community Development 

SUBJECT: ACTIVE TRANSPORTATION INFRASTRUCTURE MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING – 
MINISTRY OF TRANSPORTATION AND INFRASTRUCTURE 

RECOMMENDATION(S) 

THAT the report titled Active Transportation Infrastructure Memorandum of 
Understanding – Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure be received; 

AND THAT the delegated authorities be authorized to sign the Active Transportation 
Infrastructure Memorandum of Understanding with the Ministry of Transportation and 
Infrastructure. 

BACKGROUND 

Since the fall of 2018, Regional Districts within the Association of Vancouver Island and Coastal 
Communities (AVICC) area (qathet, Comox Valley, Cowichan Valley, Regional District of 
Nanaimo) have been working with the Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure (MoTI) on a 
memorandum of understanding (MOU) about authorizing, in a transparent and consistent way, 
the construction of Regional District active transportation infrastructure (ATI) within the 
Ministry’s right of way. 

This work has its genesis in advocacy by SCRD and others in 2017 and early 2018, including a 
meeting between the SCRD Chair and Minister Trevena at UBCM in 2017. 

Progress updates have been reported to the Board through departmental quarterly reports and 
the Chief Administrative Officer’s reports. 

The MOU (Attachment 1) provides general understandings and processes regarding the 
implementation of ATI within the MoTI right of way.  

Under the MOU, planning and design for ATI will align with an ATI Planning and Approvals 
Guidelines Document which is under development. Once approved, there will be project-specific 
license of occupation agreements for each ATI project. SCRD will maintain a list of ATI priority 
projects that will be reviewed annually with MoTI.  

Each of the above-noted Regional Districts will be considering individual MoUs with the same 
terms as the MoU between the SCRD and MoTI. 

ANNEX C

42



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee, July 11, 2019 
Active Transportation Infrastructure Memorandum of Understanding – Ministry of 
Transportation and Infrastructure  Page 2 of 3 
 

 
2019-JUL-11 PCDC Staff Report MOTI MOU Active Transportation 

DISCUSSION 

Staff recommend that the delegated authorities be authorized to sign the Active Transportation 
Infrastructure Memorandum of Understanding with the Ministry of Transportation and 
Infrastructure. 
 
This is a first step in moving towards a collaborative relationship with MoTI in order to plan and 
develop ATI within developed and undeveloped MoTI road rights of way. The MOU provides 
consistent, documented processes, roles and responsibilities. As such, the agreement provides 
a solid foundation for planning and clarifies the liability of the Regional District. 

Organizational and Intergovernmental Implications  

Intergovernmental cooperation and collaborative planning of active transportation routes with 
member municipalities requires that SCRD have a tool to authorize work within the MoTI right of 
way; the MOU is helpful to this end. 

At the organizational level, all SCRD ATI projects scoped or designed in the past but not 
constructed (i.e. projects “on the drawing board” or “in the queue”) will need to be reviewed for 
compliance with contemporary design standards. Formal management plans will be required. 

Existing (built) ATI that has been permitted through a past/historic process will remain 
authorized. If existing ATI is planned to be upgraded or changed, the process set out in the 
MOU for licensing would be applied. 

Financial Implications 

There are no direct financial implications for the execution of the MOU.  

Funding for individual bike and walk path projects is provided through [667] Bicycle and Walking 
Paths (Area A) and [665] Bicycle and Walking Paths (Areas B, D, E, F).  

Use of Gas Tax Community Works Funds will be reviewed by UBCM as a potential funding 
source. The use of transparent, consistent licenses with long tenure is designed to facilitate the 
appropriate/permitted use of gas tax funds. 

Timeline / Communications Strategy 

Other AVICC regional district Boards are considering the MOU this month (July 2019). A 
coordinated press release is contemplated, pending direction from Board(s). 

The MoTI Planning and Approval Guidelines document is anticipated to be finalized Q3 2019.  

Further review of the use of gas tax funds for active transportation will be undertaken by UBCM.  

  

43



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee, July 11, 2019 
Active Transportation Infrastructure Memorandum of Understanding – Ministry of 
Transportation and Infrastructure  Page 3 of 3 
 

 
2019-JUL-11 PCDC Staff Report MOTI MOU Active Transportation 

STRATEGIC PLAN AND RELATED POLICIES 

The subject matter of this report relates to building/enhancing collaboration with the Province of 
BC. Active transportation contributes to environmental leadership and community development. 
The development of active transportation infrastructure aligns with the Integrated Transportation 
Study, Parks and Recreation Master Plan and Official Community Plans. 

CONCLUSION 

SRCD and other AVICC regional districts have worked with MoTI on the development of an 
MOU related to Regional District development of ATI in the Ministry’s right of way. The MOU 
provides clear process, roles and responsibilities and is a first step toward coordinated planning 
and delivering of ATI. Staff recommend that the delegated authorities be authorized to sign the 
MOU. 
 
Planning and Approval Guidelines and UBCM review of the use of gas tax funds for ATI are 
next steps. 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

 
Attachment A: Draft Active Transportation Infrastructure MOU – MoTI and SCRD (Version June 
6, 2019) 
 

Reviewed by: 
Manager  Finance  
GM  Legislative X - A. Legault 
A/CAO X – A. Legault Risk X –V.Cropp 

 

44



Active Transportation Infrastructure MOU – MoTI and SCRD 

Page 1 of 5 2019-06-06 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

This Memorandum of Understanding made the        day of     , 2019. 

AMONG:  

Sunshine Coast Regional District 

1975 Field Road 

Sechelt, B.C. 

V0N 3A1 

(“SCRD”) 

AND: 

HER MAJESTY THE QUEEN IN RIGHT OF THE PROVINCE OF BRITISH COLUMBIA 

As represented by the Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure, 

PO Box 9850, Stn. Prov. Govt. 

Victoria, BC VAW 9T5 

(the “MoTI”) 

WHEREAS: 

a. The Parties value active transportation, the health and wellness of the community and
linking communities;

b. The Parties recognize that the Ministry is vested with the administration and operation
of the highways;

c. MoTI recognizes and acknowledges that the SCRD is a public body with an interest in
providing for public uses of lands comprising provincial public highway provided that
such uses comply with applicable policies respecting the operation of provincial public
highways including that such uses do not interfere with the integrity of the provincial
public highway infrastructure and the primary operation of the provincial public
highways as safe and efficiently functioning public highways;

d. MoTI acknowledges that it can stream line and expedite its permitting process for use of
highways under its jurisdiction when dealing with a public body such as the SCRD;

e. The SCRD has requested the ability to place ATI adjacent to the roadway and within the
provincial public highway; and Parties recognize the need to work cooperatively to
achieve safe active transportation but that the intent of this MOU is establish a
cooperative set of principles to allow for placement of ATI by the SCRD to be permitted
under future specific agreements in a manner that is consistent with the shared values
and desire to cooperate, that is set out herein;

NOW THEREFORE, 

Attachment A

45



Active Transportation Infrastructure MOU – MoTI and SCRD 
 

Page 2 of 5  2019-06-06 
 

DEFINITIONS: 

1. In this MOU: 
 
“ATI” – means Active Transportation Infrastructure as described in this MOU. 
 
“provincial public highway” – means the lands and infrastructure administered by the 
MoTI and comprising a “highway” as defined in the Transportation Act, including rural 
highway, arterial highways or highways referred to in section 35(2)(f) of the Community 
Charter, and for greater certainty includes without limitation lands whether or not 
improved in part or at all for public passage.   
 
“roadway” – means the parts of the provincial public highway that are comprised of 
constructed road infrastructure including without limitation, those parts of the 
provincial public highway required for purposes of maintaining and facilitating the 
integrity of and the safe and efficient functioning of the road infrastructure whether or 
not used for vehicular traffic.  

PURPOSE: 

2. This Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) sets out the general understandings and 
processes of the SCRD and the MoTI as of the date of this MOU, regarding the 
implementation of ATI, which generally includes: 
 
(a) Gravel Pathways/Trails adjacent to the roadway 
(b) Multi Use Pathways adjacent to the roadway 
(c) Sidewalks adjacent to the roadway 
(d) Widened shoulders in support of ATI connections 
 

3. This MOU is non – binding and is subject to any and all applicable laws.  Nothing in this 
MOU is intended to or does fetter the exercise of statutory discretions or statutory 
authorities applicable to the matters contemplated in this MOU.  

KEY PRINCIPLES: 

4. The MoTI and the SCRD have been working collaboratively in unincorporated areas to 
consider and where reasonably appropriate permit and construct regional trails, 
pathways and other ATI within provincial public highway with the intent being that this 
will be implemented through project specific agreements for ATI projects under the 
guidelines described herein, which are to be developed in a mutually cooperative 
manner.  

46



Active Transportation Infrastructure MOU – MoTI and SCRD 
 

Page 3 of 5  2019-06-06 
 

5. The SCRD wishes to develop a framework to support where reasonably appropriate, the 
implementation of consistent processes to guide the planning, design, approval, 
construction and ongoing responsibility for ATI adjacent to roadways.   
 

6. The SCRD will work with other Regional Districts that comprise Vancouver Island Coastal 
Communities to promote consistency in liaising with the MoTI in its consideration of ATI 
proposals and administration and implementation of provincial review processes.  
 

7. The MoTI will work, subject to and in conformance with applicable laws, with the SCRD 
and other Regional Districts to review proposed ATI within provincial public highway.  
 

ROLES: 

8. The MoTI is vested with the administration and operation of provincial public highways 
and as part of this mandate reviews and may approve proposed ATI’s within provincial 
public highways. 
 

9. The SCRD is representative, of rural areas of the Sunshine Coast, outside of the 
municipalities of the Town of Gibsons and the Sechelt Indian Government District and as a 
part of its mandate wishes to develop ATI for the benefit of its residents. 
 

10. SCRD desires increased use and occupation of provincial public highway for ATI`s and 
acknowledges that any such proposed use and occupation of provincial public highway 
must take into consideration and reflect provincial interests and requirements including 
interests and requirements relating to the preservation of the highway infrastructure and 
the safe and efficient functioning of the provincial public highway for ATI’s.   
 

11. SCRD are prepared to be responsible for the planning, design, construction, operation, 
maintenance and repair of ATI’s and the SCRD shall contribute staff time, background 
studies and mapping to work cooperatively on same. The intention of the parties when 
dealing with future ATI projects proposed by SCRD is to act reasonably and cooperatively 
to achieve an efficient and effective process, in accordance with the principles in this 
MOU.  
 

12. SCRD are prepared to have and maintain a ATI priority projects program that will be 
shared with and reviewed annually with MoTI.     
 

13. MoTI will share and annually discuss the district rehabilitation, safety and minor 
betterments program with the SCRD.     
 

47



Active Transportation Infrastructure MOU – MoTI and SCRD 
 

Page 4 of 5  2019-06-06 
 

14. The MoTI is mindful of the public interest in ensuring the provincial investments, 
financial and otherwise, in preserving the safe and efficient functioning of provincial 
public highways while acknowledging the interest of the SCRD to promote the location of 
ATI’s within provincial public highways.  

REGIONAL TRAIL PLANNING AND DESIGN: 

15. MoTI and SCRD acknowledge that ATI proposals must be consistent, among other things, 
with the applicable laws, policies and requirements including interests and requirements 
relating to the preservation of the highway infrastructure and the safe and efficient 
functioning of the provincial public highway. 
 

16. SCRD and MoTI acknowledge that among other factors that are to be taken into account 
in considering ATI’s,  there is a shared view that ATI’s are generally to be located in 
locations sufficiently separated from roadways as to enable and where feasible maximize 
the integrity and the efficient functioning of the provincial public highway  and the safety 
of person on and in the vicinity of provincial public highway and the ATI.  
 

17. SCRD acknowledge that ATI planning and design are to be consistent with and align with, 
amongst other things, Provincial highway corridor planning studies and goals and with 
the ATI Planning and Approvals Guidelines Document and are to be carried out in a 
manner and by adopting timelines that reasonably enable the meaningful involvement of 
MoTI staff. 
 

18. MoTI and SCRD acknowledge that numerous and varied factors including, without 
limitation, site specific circumstances and constraints, will apply to considering 
appropriate locations for ATI’s and that as a result there may be an approach in 
considering and, if approved, approving proposed ATI`s that is phased to allow for, 
amongst other things, incremental identification and resolution of issues including 
without limitation issues relating to the elaborate nature of ATI`s and the distancing of 
ATI`s from roadways.  Without limiting MoTI’s discretion, the parties agree that future 
guidelines will be developed by MoTI in consultation with the SCRD, which may then be 
used in the design, operation and maintenance of ATI.    
  

19. The MoTI retains the right to reject or refuse approval for any ATI proposal at its 
discretion.   

PROCESS: 

20. SCRD and MoTI acknowledge that existing review and approval processes including 
without limitation, MoTI process for considering applications for permit and licence of 
occupation proposals, will apply and should be followed for ATI proposals, including 

48



Active Transportation Infrastructure MOU – MoTI and SCRD 
 

Page 5 of 5  2019-06-06 
 

submission of ATI proposals to the appropriate local MoTI Office Development Approvals 
department. 
 

21. MoTI, at its discretion, and taking into account the relevant factors relating to each ATI 
proposal, may determine whether, if approved, a permit or licence of occupation is to 
apply to implementation of the ATI proposal.  
 
 
 

MEETING: 

22. SCRD and MoTI intend that they will meet whenever a meeting is reasonably necessary 
or requested by the other party to deal with specific ATI projects and at least on an 
annual basis to discuss general matters and any upcoming highway and ATI plans, review 
operations on existing ATI on provincial public highway and review the terms of this 
MOU. 
 

23. SCRD and the MoTI intend to meet as may be reasonably required to discuss ATI and to 
cooperate in scheduling such meetings to achieve positive progress towards the 
objectives in this MOU.   

CONTACTS: 

24. The provincial lead contact with the SCRD is the MoTI District Manager, [Lower Mainland 
District] 

 
25. The provincial lead contact for SCRD Regional District members is the local MoTI office  

 

26. The SCRD Regional District lead contact is………. 

[Execution Page Follows] 

 

This Memorandum of Understanding is signed on behalf of SCRD and MoTI as follows.   

 

SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT (SCRD) 

 

          , 2019 
Signature      Date  

49



Active Transportation Infrastructure MOU – MoTI and SCRD 
 

Page 6 of 5  2019-06-06 
 

 

Name  

 

Title  

        

Witness Signature 

 

MINISTRY OF TRANSPORTATION AND INFRASTRUCTURE  

           , 2019 
Signature      Date  

 

Name 

 

Title 

        

Witness Signature 

 

50



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT STAFF REPORT 

TO: Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 

AUTHOR: Yuli Siao, Senior Planner 

SUBJECT: Sunshine Coast Regional District Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 310.187, 
2019 (Morrissey – 2284 Pixton Rd) Consideration of First Reading – 
Electoral Area D 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

THAT the report titled Sunshine Coast Regional District Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 
310.187, 2019 (Morrissey – 2284 Pixton Rd) Consideration of First Reading – Electoral 
Area D be received;  

AND THAT Sunshine Coast Regional District Zoning Amendment No. 310.187, 2019 be 
forwarded to the Board for consideration of First Reading; 

AND THAT pursuant to Section 475 of the Local Government Act the bylaw be referred to 
the following agencies for consultation: 

• Roberts Creek Advisory Planning Commission;

• Roberts Creek Volunteer Fire Department;

• Sḵwx̱wú7mesh Nation;

• Ministry of Transportation & Infrastructure; and

• Vancouver Coastal Health

AND FURTHER THAT a Public Information Meeting be held with respect to Bylaw No. 
310.187, 2019 prior to consideration of Second Reading. 
____________________________________________________________________________ 

BACKGROUND 

SCRD has received an application to amend Zoning Bylaw No. 310 to permit a second dwelling 
at 2284 Pixton Road, Roberts Creek. A location map and application summary are provided 
below. 

ANNEX D

51



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - July 11, 2019 
Sunshine Coast Regional District Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 310.187, 2019 (Morrissey 
– 2284 Pixton Rd) Consideration of First Reading – Electoral Area D  Page 2 of 7 
 

2019-July-11 PCDC Report-BYL310.187 (Morrissey) 

Figure 1 – General Location 
 
Owner / Applicant: Aaron Morrissey 

Civic Address: 2284 Pixton Road 

Legal Description: Lot B, District Lot 1621, Group 1 New Westminster District, Plan EPP34685 

Electoral Area: D – Roberts Creek 

Parcel Area: 4.86 acre (19668 m2) 

OCP Land Use: Current – Country Residential  

Land Use Zone: Current - Country Residential Two (CR2) 

Subdivision District: Current - G                   

Application Intent: To amend zoning bylaw to allow a second dwelling 

Table 1 - Application Summary 

The purpose of this report is to introduce the application and obtain direction from the Planning 
and Community Development Committee prior to moving forward to the next stage of the 
application process. 
 
 

52



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - July 11, 2019 
Sunshine Coast Regional District Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 310.187, 2019 (Morrissey 
– 2284 Pixton Rd) Consideration of First Reading – Electoral Area D  Page 3 of 7 
 

2019-July-11 PCDC Report-BYL310.187 (Morrissey) 

DISCUSSION 

Existing and Proposed Uses 

The property is a rectangular parcel fronting on Pixton Road and located north of the Sunshine 
Coast Highway in Roberts Creek. It is surrounded mostly by rural and country residential 
parcels of similar size. According to the applicant, a single family dwelling and an auxiliary 
building with a studio space exist on the property. The applicant is proposing to construct a 
second dwelling – a 130 m2 (1400 ft2) rancher, to be located on the southeast corner of the 
property.  

 

Official Community Plan 

The parcel is within the Country Residential land use designation of the Roberts Creek Official 
Community Plan (OCP). The designation is established for rural acreage adjacent or in 
proximity to the Sunshine Coast Highway, intended to serve as a visual buffer of the Highway 
and maintain the rural atmosphere of the area. OCP policies encourage the creation of 
affordable housing opportunities in this designation through providing auxiliary dwellings, full 

proposed rancher 

53



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - July 11, 2019 
Sunshine Coast Regional District Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 310.187, 2019 (Morrissey 
– 2284 Pixton Rd) Consideration of First Reading – Electoral Area D  Page 4 of 7 
 

2019-July-11 PCDC Report-BYL310.187 (Morrissey) 

size second dwellings or other types of dwellings subject to parcel size and other requirements 
of the zoning bylaw. The proposal for a second dwelling on the subject property can be 
considered consistent with the general intent of the OCP. 

Zoning Bylaw No. 310  

The subject parcel is zoned CR2 (Country Residential Two), which permits no more than one 
dwelling and other uses such as bed and breakfast, home occupation, keeping of chickens and 
rabbits, and agriculture.  

The subject parcel and several adjacent parcels are results of a previous subdivision of 
decommissioned Private Managed Forest lands, which were rezoned from RU1 (Rural One) to 
CR2 with a subdivision density change from 100 ha to 1.75 ha for minimum lot size. To 
compensate for the lot size reduction and maintain a generally consistent density in this rural 
area, the CR2 zoning limits the number of dwellings to one per parcel. Therefore the proposal 
for a second dwelling requires a site specific zoning amendment for this parcel. 

The proposed second dwelling is a one-storey rancher with a footprint of 11m by 12m. It will be 
positioned in an unwooded vacant portion of the parcel with ample setback (15m+) from parcel 
lines, adjacent buildings and sensitive natural features. Proposed siting requirements are 
provided in the amendment bylaw (Attachment A). Amidst large lots (2 ha +) in the surrounding 
areas, this dwelling does not appear to have a detrimental effect on the surrounding 
environment or the general perception of building density and rural ambiance in this area. 

Development Considerations 

The property is located within the fire protection area of the Roberts Creek Volunteer Fire 
Department.  

The subject property is located outside of the SCRD Water Service Area. On-site water supply 
systems must be available to both the existing dwelling and proposed dwelling. The applicant 
will need to provide an engineer’s report indicating that lands within the parcel are capable of 
providing for on-site water supply and septic systems for both dwellings meeting provincial 
health requirements.  

Staff recommend that if the bylaw amendment proceeds, an engineer’s report be provided by 
the applicant indicating that the parcel is capable of providing on-site water supply and 
wastewater treatment for two dwellings, and such a report be provided before a public hearing is 
scheduled. 

Organization and Intergovernmental Implications  

This application will be referred to the Roberts Creek Advisory Planning Commission, Roberts 
Creek Volunteer Fire Department, Sḵwx̱wú7mesh Nation, Ministry of Transportation and 
Infrastructure, and Vancouver Coastal Health for comment.  

Timeline for Next Steps 
 
The referral process (including a public information meeting) will provide feedback on the 
community’s desire to allow a second dwelling on the subject property in the CR2 zone.   

54



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - July 11, 2019 
Sunshine Coast Regional District Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 310.187, 2019 (Morrissey 
– 2284 Pixton Rd) Consideration of First Reading – Electoral Area D  Page 5 of 7 
 

2019-July-11 PCDC Report-BYL310.187 (Morrissey) 

A public information meeting will be organized by the applicant and consultation with agencies 
and First Nations will occur.  

Comments received from the consultation process and public information meeting will be 
incorporated into another staff report to the Planning and Community Development Committee 
with recommendations relating to Second Reading of the bylaw, and if Second Reading 
proceeds, a public hearing would be arranged. After the public hearing conditions of final 
approval can be presented to the SCRD Board. At that time the Board can decide if it wishes to 
proceed with adoption of the bylaw.  

Communications Strategy 

The subject parcel is within the territory of Sḵwx̱wú7mesh Nation. It is also within 800 metres of 
a controlled access highway; thus Bylaw No. 310.187 requires approval from the Ministry of 
Transportation and Infrastructure pursuant to Section 52 of the Transportation Act before it may 
be considered for adoption. 

Staff recommend that the bylaws be referred to: 

• Roberts Creek Advisory Planning Commission; 
• Roberts Creek Volunteer Fire Department; 
• Sḵwx̱wú7mesh Nation; 
• Ministry of Transportation & Infrastructure; and 
• Vancouver Coastal Health  

In addition a public information meeting should be held prior to consideration of Second 
Reading. 

STRATEGIC PLAN AND RELATED POLICIES 

The OCP and bylaw amendment process supports values of collaboration, respect & equity and 
transparency. 

CONCLUSION 

The SCRD received an application to amend Zoning Bylaw No. 310 to permit a second dwelling 
at 2284 Pixton Road in the CR2 zone. The proposal does not appear to have a negative impact 
on building density in this rural area and can be supported subject to reviewing neighbourhood 
input and meeting technical criteria which can be considered during the referral period.   

Staff recommend that the bylaw receive First Reading and that referrals take place.  

ATTACHMENTS 

Attachment A - Sunshine Coast Regional District Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 310.187, 2019  

  Reviewed by: 
Manager X – A. Allen Finance  
GM X –  I. Hall Legislative    
A/CAO X – A. Legault Other  

55



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - July 11, 2019 
Sunshine Coast Regional District Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 310.187, 2019 (Morrissey 
– 2284 Pixton Rd) Consideration of First Reading – Electoral Area D  Page 6 of 7 
 

2019-July-11 PCDC Report-BYL310.187 (Morrissey) 

ATTACHMENT A 
 

SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT 
BYLAW NO. 310.187 

A bylaw to amend the Sunshine Coast Regional District Zoning Bylaw No. 310, 1987 
 
 

The Board of Directors of the Sunshine Coast Regional District, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 

PART A – CITATION 
1. This bylaw may be cited as Sunshine Coast Regional District Zoning Amendment Bylaw 

No. 310.187, 2019. 

PART B – AMENDMENT 
2. Sunshine Coast Regional District Zoning Bylaw No. 310, 1987 is hereby amended as 

follows: 

Insert the following section immediately following Section 1000A.6: 

Site Specific Uses 

1000A.7  Notwithstanding Section 1000A.3 and Section 1000A.4, on Lot B, District Lot 1621, 
Group 1 New Westminster District, Plan EPP34685, two single family dwellings are permitted, 
one of which shall be subject to the following provisions: 

(1) maximum gross floor area: 130 square metres 

(2) maximum building height: 7 metres 

(3) minimum setback from the east side parcel line: 15 metres 

(4) minimum setback from the front parcel line: 15 metres 

(5) minimum setback from the rear parcel line: 170 metres 

(6) minimum setback from the west side parcel line: 70 metres 

PART C – ADOPTION 

READ A FIRST TIME this #### DAY OF MONTH , YEAR 

READ A SECOND TIME this #### DAY OF MONTH , YEAR 

PUBLIC HEARING HELD PURSUANT TO THE 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT this  #### DAY OF MONTH , YEAR 

READ A THIRD TIME this  #### DAY OF MONTH , YEAR 

56



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - July 11, 2019 
Sunshine Coast Regional District Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 310.187, 2019 (Morrissey 
– 2284 Pixton Rd) Consideration of First Reading – Electoral Area D  Page 7 of 7 
 

2019-July-11 PCDC Report-BYL310.187 (Morrissey) 

APPROVED PURSUANT TO SECTION 52 OF 
THE TRANSPORTATION ACT this #### DAY OF MONTH , YEAR 

ADOPTED this  #### DAY OF MONTH , YEAR 

 
 
Corporate Officer 
 
 
Chair 

 

57



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT STAFF REPORT 

  TO: Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 

AUTHOR: Yuli Siao, Senior Planner 

SUBJECT: PROVINCIAL REFERRALS – REVISED RECOMMENDATION FOR PRIVATE MOORAGE IN 
SECRET COVE (POPE FOR BRYNELSEN) 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. THAT the report titled Provincial Referrals – Revised Recommendation for Private 
Moorage in Secret Cove (Pope for Brynelsen) be received;  

2. AND THAT the following comments be forwarded to the Ministry of Forests, Lands 
Natural Resource Operations and Rural Development: 

a. The SCRD has no objection to approval of the existing residential private 
moorage fronting Strata Lot 1 - Crown File 2411830 and the existing residential 
private moorage fronting the Common Property - Crown File 2411832, as these 
moorage facilities were established before the adoption of Zoning Bylaw No. 
310, and are considered legal non-conforming;  

b. The following additional conditions apply to permissions for Crown Files 
2411830 and 2411832: 

i. The proposed new residential private moorage fronting Strata Lot 2 - 
Crown File 2411831 be denied; 

ii. SCRD will require a building permit and/or a development variance permit 
if any new structures are constructed for the moorage facilities; 

iii. SCRD mapping does not indicate any eelgrass beds in the vicinity. 
Eelgrass beds in or near the tenure areas should be identified and 
protected; 

iv. Water quality should not be impacted by maintenance or construction 
activities, materials or fuel storage; 

v. There is a history of strong community interest in maintaining public 
access for shellfish harvesting in this area, as well as for recreational 
boating and emergency refuge. Docks and associated tenure areas 
should be designed to ensure public access along the foreshore and 
adequate open water for navigation is maintained; 

vi. The proponent should implement both the Province’s and the shíshálh 
Nation’s Best Management Practices for building moorage facilities and 
in particular the most stringent of any overlapping policy to protect the 
foreshore ecosystems. 

ANNEX E

58



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 
Provincial Referrals – Revised Recommendation for Private Moorage in Secret 
Cove (Pope for Brynelsen) Page 2 of 12 
 

2019-Jul-11 PCDC report Private Moorage (Pope-Brynelsen) 

PURPOSE 

The purpose of this report is to provide updated information on the subject moorage facilities 
and provide a revised recommendation for the provincial referrals. 

BACKGROUND 

The SCRD Board adopted Resolution 229/17 on July 13, 2017 as follows: 

Recommendation No. 11 Private Moorage Referrals in Secret Cove (Pope for Brynelsen) 

THAT the report titled Private Moorage Referrals in Secret Cove (Pope for Brynelsen) – 
Electoral Area B be received; 

AND THAT the following comments be forwarded to the Ministry of Forests, Lands and 
Natural Resource Operations by July 18, 2017: 

a. It is the SCRD’s preference that tenure be issued for a shared dock, as per OCP Policy 
19.8, to reduce the cumulative impacts of foreshore private moorage developments in 
Secret Cove; 

b. The SCRD has no objection to approval of the existing residential private moorage fronting 
Strata Lot 1, Crown File 2411830, as the SCRD understands that the moorage facility has 
been in place since 1985 and its size is nonconforming to Zoning Bylaw No. 310; 

c. The SCRD may support the proposed residential private moorage fronting Strata Lot 2, 
Crown File 2411831, subject to the applicant successfully amending the W1 zone, within 
Zoning Bylaw No. 310, to allow more than one residential mooring facility for the parcel / 
strata development prior to permission issuance; 

d. The SCRD may support the existing residential private moorage fronting Common Property, 
Crown File 2411832, subject to the applicant successfully amending the W1 zone, within 
Zoning Bylaw No. 310, to allow more than one residential mooring facility for the parcel / 
strata development prior to permission issuance; 

e. The following additional conditions apply to permissions for Crown Files 2411830, 2411831 
and 2411832: 

i. SCRD will require a building permit and/or a development variance permit if any 
structures are constructed to access the moorage facility; 

ii. SCRD mapping does not indicate any eelgrass beds in the vicinity. Eelgrass beds in or 
near the tenure areas should be identified and protected; 

iii. Water quality should not be impacted by maintenance or construction activities, 
materials, or fuel storage; 

iv. There is a history of strong community interest in maintaining public access for shellfish 
harvesting in this area, as well as for recreational boating and emergency refuge. Docks 
and associated tenure areas should be designed to ensure public access along the 
foreshore and adequate open water for navigation is maintained; 

59



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 
Provincial Referrals – Revised Recommendation for Private Moorage in Secret 
Cove (Pope for Brynelsen) Page 3 of 12 
 

2019-Jul-11 PCDC report Private Moorage (Pope-Brynelsen) 

v. The proponent should implement both the Province’s and the shíshálh Nation’s Best 
Management Practices for building moorage facilities and in particular the most stringent 
of any overlapping policy to protect the foreshore ecosystems. 

This recommendation pertains to the initial applications for provincial tenure for three docks 
including two existing and one new as referred to SCRD in Spring 2017 (Figure 1).  

For the Board’s information, the staff report associated with this recommendation is provided in 
Attachment B. 

The Board’s recommendation was provided to the Ministry of Forests, Lands, Natural Resource 
Operations and Rural Development (FLNRORD). In July 2018 the Ministry issued its decision to 
the applicant requiring the removal of one of the two existing moorage facilities in order to bring 
the property into compliance with SCRD zoning bylaw. The Ministry also suggested applying for 
group moorage approval of the dock that was to remain.  

DISCUSSION 

Recently the applicant provided SCRD with detailed historic evidence of the property and the 
existing moorage facilities (Attachment A). The new information is accompanied with a request 
for review and reconsideration of the Board’s 2017 recommendations in order to supprot re-
applications to the province for the existing moorage facilities (Attachment A). Through the new 
information, the applicant demonstrates that the waterfront of the propety has been in continual 
use since 1919, and the two existing docks have been established since 1945 despite periods 
when the docks were in the state of disrepair or replacement and might not be captured on 
historic low-resolution aerial photos which were snapshots of the earth’s surface once per year. 
Legal non-conforming status should be based on the original structure when it was first 
established, and subsequent restorations of the structure in its original location are considered 
maintaning the legal non-conforming status. Therefore the legal non-conforming status of these 
docks can be established.  

Figure 1: subject parcel showing approximate areas for tenue areas 

proposed new dock 

existing dock 

existing dock 

60



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 
Provincial Referrals – Revised Recommendation for Private Moorage in Secret 
Cove (Pope for Brynelsen) Page 4 of 12 
 

2019-Jul-11 PCDC report Private Moorage (Pope-Brynelsen) 

According to the applicant, the property is reliant on water access via these docks, as road 
access through Sans Souci Road is not a public road dedication and permitted through a year-
to-year license from Sunny Harbour Estates.  

Previously staff visited the proeprty and the existing docks, and determined that the docks, 
being spaced apart, were compatible with the charcter of the area, and did not appear to have a 
detrimental effect on the foreshore and surrouding waterways. Given the recognition of two 
existing docks, any new docks cannot be supported, as the zoning bylaw restricts the number of 
docks to one per parcel.  

Based on the above discussion, staff recommend revising the comments to be provided to the 
Ministry of Forests, Lands, Natural Resource Operations and Rural Development stating that 
SCRD has no objection to moorage applications for the two exsting docks, provided that the 
application for a new dock is denied and other previously recommended conditions are met.  

Timeline for next steps 

The Board resolution will be forwarded to FLNRORD which will make final decision on these 
applications. 

STRATEGIC PLAN AND RELATED POLICIES 

Strategic Plan Values: Embed Environmental Leadership 

CONCLUSION 

Since the Board’s last consideration of the subject moorage application referral, the SCRD has 
received further information regarding the history of the existing docks which esbalishes their 
legal non-conforming status. Staff recommend revising comments to the Province supporting 
the applications for the existing docks subject to denial of application for a new dock and other 
conditions. 

Attachments 

• Attachment A – Application’s request for reconsideration  
• Attachment B – Information provided by applicant 
• Attachment C – Staff report dated July 13, 2017 

 
 

 
  

Reviewed by: 
Manager X –  A. Allen Finance  
GM X –  I. Hall Legislative  
I/CAO X –  A. Legault Other  

61



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 
Provincial Referrals – Revised Recommendation for Private Moorage in Secret 
Cove (Pope for Brynelsen) Page 5 of 12 
 

2019-Jul-11 PCDC report Private Moorage (Pope-Brynelsen) 

Attachment A  Applicant’s request for reconsideration 

  

62



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 
Provincial Referrals – Revised Recommendation for Private Moorage in Secret 
Cove (Pope for Brynelsen) Page 6 of 12 
 

2019-Jul-11 PCDC report Private Moorage (Pope-Brynelsen) 

 Attachment B  Information provided by applicant 

 

63



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 
Provincial Referrals – Revised Recommendation for Private Moorage in Secret 
Cove (Pope for Brynelsen) Page 7 of 12 
 

2019-Jul-11 PCDC report Private Moorage (Pope-Brynelsen) 

 

 

64



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 
Provincial Referrals – Revised Recommendation for Private Moorage in Secret 
Cove (Pope for Brynelsen) Page 8 of 12 
 

2019-Jul-11 PCDC report Private Moorage (Pope-Brynelsen) 

 

 

65



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 
Provincial Referrals – Revised Recommendation for Private Moorage in Secret 
Cove (Pope for Brynelsen) Page 9 of 12 
 

2019-Jul-11 PCDC report Private Moorage (Pope-Brynelsen) 

 

  

66



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 
Provincial Referrals – Revised Recommendation for Private Moorage in Secret 
Cove (Pope for Brynelsen) Page 10 of 12 
 

2019-Jul-11 PCDC report Private Moorage (Pope-Brynelsen) 

 

  

67



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 
Provincial Referrals – Revised Recommendation for Private Moorage in Secret 
Cove (Pope for Brynelsen) Page 11 of 12 
 

2019-Jul-11 PCDC report Private Moorage (Pope-Brynelsen) 

 

 

68



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 
Provincial Referrals – Revised Recommendation for Private Moorage in Secret 
Cove (Pope for Brynelsen) Page 12 of 12 
 

2019-Jul-11 PCDC report Private Moorage (Pope-Brynelsen) 

 

 

 

69



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT STAFF REPORT 

TO: Planning and Community Development Committee – July 13, 2017 

AUTHOR: Lesley-Ann Staats, Planner 

SUBJECT: PRIVATE MOORAGE REFERRALS IN SECRET COVE (POPE FOR BRYNELSEN) – 
ELECTORAL AREA B 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. THAT the report titled Private Moorage Referrals in Secret Cove (Pope for
Brynelsen) – Electoral Area B be received;

2. AND THAT the following comments be forwarded to the Ministry of Forests, Lands 
and Natural Resources Operations by July 18, 2017:

a. It is the SCRD’s preference that tenure be issued for a shared dock, as per
OCP Policy 19.8, to reduce the cumulative impacts of foreshore private
moorage developments in Secret Cove;

b. The SCRD has no objection to approval of the existing residential private
moorage fronting Strata Lot 1, Crown File 2411830, as the SCRD understands
that the moorage facility has been in place since 1985 and its size is non-
conforming to Zoning Bylaw No. 310;

c. The SCRD may support the proposed residential private moorage fronting
Strata Lot 2, Crown File 2411831, subject to the applicant successfully
amending the W1 zone, within Zoning Bylaw No. 310, to allow more than one
residential mooring facility for the parcel / strata development prior to
permission issuance;

d. The SCRD may support the existing residential private moorage fronting
Common Property, Crown File 2411832, subject to the applicant successfully
amending the W1 zone, within Zoning Bylaw No. 310, to allow more than one
residential mooring facility for the parcel / strata development prior to
permission issuance;

e. The following additional conditions apply to permissions for Crown Files
2411830, 2411831 and 2411832:

i. SCRD will require a building permit and/or a development variance
permit if any structures are constructed to access the moorage facility;

ii. SCRD mapping does not indicate any eelgrass beds in the vicinity.
Eelgrass beds in or near the tenure areas should be identified and
protected;

iii. Water quality should not be impacted by maintenance or construction
activities, materials, or fuel storage;

Attachment C

70



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 13, 2017 
Private Moorage Referrals in Secret Cove (Pope for Brynelsen) – Electoral Area B Page 2 of 9 
 

2017-Jul-13 v3 PCD CRN00029 CRN00031 CRN00032 2411830 2411831 2411832 Private Moorage (Pope) 

iv. There is a history of strong community interest in maintaining public 
access for shellfish harvesting in this area, as well as for recreational 
boating and emergency refuge. Docks and associated tenure areas 
should be designed to ensure public access along the foreshore and 
adequate open water for navigation is maintained; 

v. The proponent should implement both the Province’s and the shíshálh 
Nation’s Best Management Practices for building moorage facilities and 
in particular the most stringent of any overlapping policy to protect the 
foreshore ecosystems; 

3. AND FURTHER THAT this recommendation be forwarded to the regular Board 
meeting of July 13, 2017 for adoption. 

 

PURPOSE 

The purpose of this report is to provide information on three residential private moorage 
referrals from the Ministry of Forests, Lands, and Natural Resource Operations (FLNRO) and to 
provide a response to FLNRO. 

BACKGROUND 

The SCRD received three referrals from FLNRO for specific permission for two existing 
residential private moorages and one proposed residential private moorage fronting 5383 Sans 
Souci Road, Halfmoon Bay. The referrals are enclosed for reference as Attachments A, B and 
C. An application summary is provided below. 

Figure 1: subject parcel showing approximate areas for tenue areas 

71



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 13, 2017 
Private Moorage Referrals in Secret Cove (Pope for Brynelsen) – Electoral Area B Page 3 of 9 
 

2017-Jul-13 v3 PCD CRN00029 CRN00031 CRN00032 2411830 2411831 2411832 Private Moorage (Pope) 

 

In 2010, the property completed a 
building strata to form Strata Lot 1, 
Strata Lot 2, and Common Property.  

The proponent is requesting 
permission for each Strata Lot (which 
are dwellings) and the Common 
Property to have its own private 
moorage.  

This matter was previously considered 
by the Committee (May 11, 2017) and, 
following the Board’s directive, 
(174/17, Recommendation No. 2) a 
site visit was conducted and further 
information gathered. 

 

 

Staff researched the history of the docks, obtained from aerial photographs, summarized in 
Table 1 below: 

 Strata Lot 1 Strata Lot 2 Common Property 
Year Did docks exist? 
1964 No  No Yes 
1976 No  No Yes 
1985 Yes  No No  
1989 June 8, 1989 – Zoning Bylaw 310 adopted 

Applicant: Straight Land Surveying 

Purpose: Private Moorage (three) 

Tenure Type: Specific Permission 

Period: No fixed term 

Legal Description: UNSURVEYED FORESHORE OR LAND COVERED BY WATER 
BEING PART OF THE BED OF SECRET COVE, GROUP 1, NEW 
WESTMINSTER DISTRICT 

Electoral Area: B – Halfmoon Bay 

Size (Area): 0.065 - 0 .10 ha +/- 

OCP Land Use: Future Public Recreation Use 

Land Use Zone: W1 (Water One) 

Response Due: July 18. 2017 (Extended) 

Figure 2: Building Strata Plan 

72



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 13, 2017 
Private Moorage Referrals in Secret Cove (Pope for Brynelsen) – Electoral Area B Page 4 of 9 
 

2017-Jul-13 v3 PCD CRN00029 CRN00031 CRN00032 2411830 2411831 2411832 Private Moorage (Pope) 

W1 Zone in place, permitted one moorage facility per parcel, included 4.5 m height 
restriction for boathouse 

1999 Yes  No No  
2003 July 10, 2003 – Zoning Bylaw 310 amended to include expanded conditions to W1 

zone (siting, 65 m² size limits, boathouse perimeter 35 m, etc.) 
2006 Yes  No Yes 
2014 Yes  No Yes  
2017 Application for permission 

for existing boathouse 
and dock 162 m² 

Application for permission 
for 65 m² proposed dock 

Application for permission 
for 123 m² existing dock 

Thus, the aerial images have provided the following information: 

 The dock fronting Strata Lot 1 has been in place since 1985 
 There has never been a dock fronting Strata Lot 2 
 The dock fronting Common Property was in place in 1964, then removed after 1976, 

and put back in place in or before 2006. 

Options 

The SCRD is requested to choose one of the following options in response to each referral:  

1. Interests unaffected 
2. No objection to approval of project. 
3. No objection to approval of project subject to the conditions outlined below. 
4. Recommend refusal of project due to reasons outlined below. 
5. N/A 

DISCUSSION 

This section includes a staff analysis on the referral with respect to zoning, Official Community 
Plan policies, site visit considerations, additional considerations, and recommendations. 

Zoning 

The foreshore in Secret Cove is zoned Water One (W1), which permits one mooring facility for 
pleasure craft, auxiliary to a residential use located on the adjacent upland parcel. The W1 zone 
outlines conditions as follows: 

a) the height of a building or structure shall not exceed 4.5 metres. 

b) a boathouse shall have an exterior perimeter not exceeding 35.0 metres. 

c) a mooring facility shall have a combined area, independent of any pedestrian 
access, not exceeding 65.0 square metres. In cases where differences result in 
applying subsections (b) and (c), the more restrictive provision shall prevail.  

d) a boathouse shall be located on the surface of water only if it has a structural 
connection to the adjacent upland. 

73



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 13, 2017 
Private Moorage Referrals in Secret Cove (Pope for Brynelsen) – Electoral Area B Page 5 of 9 
 

2017-Jul-13 v3 PCD CRN00029 CRN00031 CRN00032 2411830 2411831 2411832 Private Moorage (Pope) 

Halfmoon Bay Official Community Plan 

The subject area is designated as ‘Future Public Recreation Use’ under the Halfmoon Bay 
Official Community Plan. The following objectives are identified in the OCP: 

18.1 To reserve land and water areas with high scenic value and recreational potential 
for future public use and conservation. 

18.2 To Reserve the foreshore area designated as Future Public Recreation and 
Conservation Use for public recreation and preservation of the natural environment 
without alienation by private use or resource extraction. 

18.3 To inform property owners of the shíshálh Nation’s best management practices for 
moorage, which are attached to the OCP as Appendix A. 

OCP policy 19.8 states the following: 

19.8 Support community docks in other parts of the Plan area subject to adequate 
parking and access provisions to minimize the impact of excessive private moorage 
facilities on habitats and on marine traffic. 

Staff recommend advising FLNRO that it is the SCRD’s preference that tenure be issued for a 
shared dock, as per OCP Policy 19.8, to reduce the cumulative impacts of foreshore private 
moorage developments in Secret Cove. 

Site Visit Considerations 

Notwithstanding that OCP Policy 19.8 supports a shared dock to reduce the cumulative impacts 
of foreshore private moorage developments in Secret Cove, it was observed during the site visit 
that: 

 The two docks are existing and appear to have been there for some time; and  

 The existing docks are within the character of the area. 

Further information gathered from the applicant with regards to the third dock (fronting Strata 
Lot 2) is that it is intended to serve as a kayak launch, as the existing docks are not accessible 
or appropriate for this purpose given their size, height and narrow stair access, all of which are 
reflective of and limited by the site topography. Staff consider that a small, kayak launch would 
not have a detrimental impact on area character.  

Additional Analysis 

For the purpose of Zoning Bylaw interpretation, Strata Lots 1 and 2 and the Common Property 
are a building strata and not a subdivision. Each building (strata lot) exists on its own legal title, 
however, the strata lots are on one shared parcel. Therefore, the strata is considered one parcel 
and zoning permits only one moorage facility for the parcel.  

The two existing private moorages (fronting Strata Lot 1 and Common Property) exceed the 
maximum 65 m² size under Zoning Bylaw No. 310. 

 

74



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 13, 2017 
Private Moorage Referrals in Secret Cove (Pope for Brynelsen) – Electoral Area B Page 6 of 9 
 

2017-Jul-13 v3 PCD CRN00029 CRN00031 CRN00032 2411830 2411831 2411832 Private Moorage (Pope) 

Strata Lot 1 – Crown Referral 2411830 

 The existing 162 m² private moorage and boat house fronting Strata Lot 1 
appears to have been in place since 1985 according aerial imagery.  

 Staff determined that the dock and boat house was established prior to water 
zoning (1987).  

 The size limitations were introduced in 2003; therefore the large dock and boat 
house size is lawfully non-conforming to Zoning Bylaw No. 310. 

Staff recommend responding with no objection to approval of the existing residential 
private moorage fronting Strata Lot 1, Crown File 2411830, as the SCRD understands 
that the moorage facility has been in place since 1985 and its size is non-conforming to 
Zoning Bylaw No. 310.  

Strata Lot 2 – Crown Referral 2411831 

 There is no dock fronting Strata Lot 2; however, two docks fronting the parcel 
already exist which are non-conforming to Bylaw 310. 

 The owners indicated the need for a kayak launch. Staff suggest the applicant 
apply for a Development Variance Permit to build a kayak launch off an existing 
dock. 

Staff recommend responding recommending refusal of the proposed residential private 
moorage fronting Strata Lot 2, Crown File 2411831, due to the reasons outlined below: 

 The Water One (W1) zone permits one mooring facility for the upland parcel, 
which fronts Strata Lot 1.  

 The applicant must apply to amend the W1 zone, under Zoning Bylaw No. 310, 
to allow more than one residential mooring facility for the parcel / strata 
development prior to permission issuance.  

Common Property – Crown Referral 2411832 

 The existing 123 m² private moorage fronting Common Property appeared to be 
in place from 1964 to 1976, according to aerial photographs, which was prior to 
the W1 zoning. 

 In the 1985 and 1999 aerial photographs, however, the dock is no longer in 
place. 

 In 2006, the dock appears again, and is still in place. 

 Because the new dock was installed after the W1 zone was implemented, staff 
consider it non-conforming and unlawfull.  

Staff recommend responding recommending refusal of the proposed residential private 
moorage fronting Common Property, Crown File 2411832, due to the reasons outlined 
below: 

75



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 13, 2017 
Private Moorage Referrals in Secret Cove (Pope for Brynelsen) – Electoral Area B Page 7 of 9 
 

2017-Jul-13 v3 PCD CRN00029 CRN00031 CRN00032 2411830 2411831 2411832 Private Moorage (Pope) 

 The Water One (W1) zone permits one mooring facility for the upland parcel, 
which fronts Strata Lot 1.  

 The applicant must apply to amend the W1 zone, under Zoning Bylaw No. 310, 
to allow more than one residential mooring facility for the parcel / strata 
development prior to permission issuance.  

In addition to the comments above, staff recommend forwarding the following comments to the 
Crown: 

 SCRD will require a building permit and/or a development variance permit if any 
structures are constructed to access the moorage facility.  

 SCRD mapping does not indicate any eelgrass beds in the vicinity. Eelgrass beds in or 
near the tenure areas should be identified and protected. 

 Water quality should not be impacted by maintenance or construction activities, 
materials, or fuel storage. 

 There is a history of strong community interest in maintaining public access for shellfish 
harvesting in this area, as well as for recreational boating and emergency refuge. Docks 
and associated tenure areas should be designed to ensure public access along the 
foreshore and adequate open water for navigation is maintained. 

 
 The proponent should implement both the Province’s and the shíshálh Nation’s Best 

Management Practices for building moorage facilities and in particular the most stringent 
of any overlapping policy to protect the foreshore ecosystems. 

Consultation 

The Crown refers this application to the shíshálh Nation, SCRD and other agencies it identifies 
as appropriate (such as Fisheries and Oceans Canada, Navigable Waters, etc.) and posts an 
advertisement in the Coast Reporter to enable comments from the public. 

The Halfmoon Bay Advisory Planning Commission reviewed this application at its meeting on 
April 25, 2017. The following three recommendations were made: 

1. Crown File 2411830 (Strata Lot 1) 
 
Recommendation No.1 Crown Referrals 2411830, 2411831 and 2411832 (Pope for 
Brynelsen) for Private Moorages in Secret Cove  

Regarding Crown Referrals 2411830, 2411831 and 2411832 (Pope for 
Brynelsen) for Private Moorages in Secret Cove, the APC recommends that the 
SCRD support the application for specific permission for private moorage fronting 
Strata Lot 1 (Attachment A).  

2. Crown File 2411832 (Common Property) 
 
Recommendation No.2 Crown Referrals 2411830, 2411831 and 2411832 
(Pope for Brynelsen) for Private Moorages in Secret Cove 

76



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 13, 2017 
Private Moorage Referrals in Secret Cove (Pope for Brynelsen) – Electoral Area B Page 8 of 9 
 

2017-Jul-13 v3 PCD CRN00029 CRN00031 CRN00032 2411830 2411831 2411832 Private Moorage (Pope) 

Regarding Crown Referrals 2411830, 2411831 and 2411832 (Pope for 
Brynelsen) for Private Moorages in Secret Cove, the APC recommends that the 
SCRD support the application for specific permission for private moorage fronting 
Common Strata Property (attachment C) if findings prove it to be legally non-
conforming.  

3. Crown File 2411831 (Strata Lot 2) 
 
Recommendation No.3 Crown Referrals 2411830, 2411831 and 2411832 
(Pope for Brynelsen) for Private Moorages in Secret Cove  

Regarding Crown Referrals 2411830, 2411831 and 2411832 (Pope for 
Brynelsen) for Private Moorages in Secret Cove, the APC recommends that the 
SCRD deny the application for specific permission for private moorage fronting 
Strata Lot 2 (attachment B) . 

Timeline for next steps or estimated completion date 

The Crown extended the deadline to comment on this application to July 18, 2017 in order to 
obtain a Board resolution. The resolution will be forwarded to FLNRO and final permission will 
be made by the Province. 

In order to meet the extended deadline to comment, staff recommend that recommendations 
from this report be forwarded to the regular Board meeting of July 13, 2017 for consideration of 
adoption. 

STRATEGIC PLAN AND RELATED POLICIES 

Strategic Plan Values: Embed Environmental Leadership 

CONCLUSION 

The SCRD has been provided an opportunity to comment on three referrals for three private 
moorages in Secret Cove fronting a parcel that has a building strata with two strata lots and one 
common property.  The proponent’s request is to obtain permission for three residential 
moorage facilties: two that have been in place for at least 10 years and one proposed one.  

Staff interpret that a building strata conversion – which results in Strata Lots – does not equate 
to a bare land subdivision – which results in parcels; therefore, the parcel is considered a single 
entity with two dwellings on it and is comparable to other single title parcels, where only one 
moorage facility is permitted.  

Consideration to maintaining two facilites may be given if the applicant can prove that the two 
facilities are lawfully non-conforming. 

This request is to obtain tenure and add a third facility for launching kayaks.  The OCP supports 
shared moorage facilities to reduce the cumulative impacts of moorage facilities within Secret 
Cove. Staff consider this a priority when providing comments on moorage referrals.   

Staff support FLNRO granting permission for a shared facility or a seasonal, non-permanent 
structure for launching kayaks.  If three permanent structures are to be approved, the W1 zone 
must be amended to permit the density. 

77



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 13, 2017 
Private Moorage Referrals in Secret Cove (Pope for Brynelsen) – Electoral Area B Page 9 of 9 
 

2017-Jul-13 v3 PCD CRN00029 CRN00031 CRN00032 2411830 2411831 2411832 Private Moorage (Pope) 

Attachments 

 Attachment A - Crown File #2411830 Referral Package (SL 1) 
 Attachment B - Crown File #2411831 Referral Package (SL 2) 
 Attachment C - Crown File #2411832 Referral Package (Common Property) 

 
 

Reviewed by: 
Manager X – A. Allen Finance  
GM X – I. Hall Legislative  
CAO X – J. Loveys Other  

78



Box 61 Sechelt, BC 
V0N‐3A0 604 885 3237 

seamus@straitlandsurveying.com 

Integrated Land Management Bureau 
Ministry of Forests Lands and Natural Resource Operations 
#200 – 10428 153rd Street 
Surrey, B.C. 
V3R 1E1 

February 22, 2017 

Re:  Application for Specific Permission for Private Moorage Fronting 
Strata Lot 1, DL 4552, Strata Plan BCS3893, 5383 Sans Souci Road, Halfmoon Bay, BC. 

Dear Sir, Ms; 

I wish to submit the following management plan on behalf of the owners of the above noted 
Property: 

Section A – Project Overview. 

 The lot owners wish to apply for specific permission for private moorage to encompass
an existing private dock, consisting of an aluminium ramp, boat house and a wood float
on the foreshore fronting their upland property for the purpose of mooring their boat,
and to provide moorage for guests. These structures have been in place for over 100
years.

 There will be no commercial uses of the moorage.
 The site is located in Secret Cove, Strata Lot 1, DL 4552, Strata Plan BCS3893. The civic

address is 5385 Sans Souci Road. It is important to note for this application that the
upland parcel has no dedicated road access, and is considered water access only.

 The existing structures and access are as shown on the accompanying sketches.

Section B – Project Details. 

 The site is used for the private moorage of boats owned by the upland owner and
family. The upland consists of solid granite bluff.

 The boathouse is constructed of wood, it is approximately 12.2m x 7.3m. There are 3
piling locations. At the north end of the float, there is a 4‐piling dolphin. At the south
end of the float there is a 2‐piling dolphin. There is also 1 additional piling to stabilize
the boathouse. Please see Site Plan C.

 The ramp is 10.6m x 1.1m.

Attachment A

79



 The dimensions of the floats fronting SL 1 are approximately 2.2x20.6m and 7.5x15.5m
with an open boat house on the latter.

 There are no proposed changes to the existing improvements.
 There are existing floats to the north and south of the application area, which are used

for private moorage of the owner’s boats.
 The nearest public access to the foreshore is approximately 150m South East of the

application area to the east of lot 6, DL 4552, VAP13302. There is no publicly used beach
in front of the subject lot or on any of the adjacent lots. The waterfront is composed of
solid granite.

 The lot is flanked on each side by R‐2 zoned sites with the southerly site having an
existing pier, boathouse and float.

Section C – Additional Information. 

1. Environmental

The owners will moor their boats at the float and use it during the boating season. 
Atmospheric impact will be minimal, some exhaust and motor noise when leaving and 
arriving at the float. I am not qualified to give an opinion on the impact of the dock on the 
aquatic zone and fish habitat. 

2. Socio‐Community

The property lies within the Sunshine Coast Regional District. The existing land use in the 
area is waterfront residential homes. The existing upland zoning is R‐2, which allows for a 
single family dwelling. The existing water zoning is W1, which permits one mooring facility 
for pleasure craft. 

First Nations have not been contacted regarding this application. 

Owner(s):  Denise Broderick‐Brynelsen 
5385 Sans Souci Road 
Halfmoon Bay, BC 
V0N 1Y2 

Our File:  15117‐609 (1) 

80



__________________________ 
Seamus Pope, BCLS 

81



82



83



Box 61 Sechelt, BC 
V0N‐3A0 604 885 3237 

seamus@straitlandsurveying.com 

Integrated Land Management Bureau 
Ministry of Forests Lands and Natural Resource Operations 
#200 – 10428 153rd Street 
Surrey, B.C. 
V3R 1E1 

February 22, 2017 

Re:   Application for a Specific Permission for Private Moorage Fronting 
Strata Lot 2, DL 4552, Plan BCS3893, Halfmoon Bay, BC. 

Dear Sir, Ms; 

I wish to submit the following management plan on behalf of the owners of the above noted 
Property: 

Section A – Project Overview. 

 The lot owners wish to apply for specific permission for private moorage to build a
private dock, consisting of an aluminium ramp and a wood float on the foreshore
fronting their upland property for the purpose of mooring their boat, and to provide
moorage for guests.

 There will be no commercial uses of the moorage.
 The site is located in Secret Cove, Strata Lot 2, DL 4552, Strata Plan BCS3893. The civic

address is 5383 Sans Souci Road. It is important to note for this application that the
upland parcel has no dedicated road access, and is considered water access only.

 The existing structures and access are as shown on the accompanying sketches.

Section B – Project Details. 

 The site will be used for the private moorage of boats owned by the upland owner and
family.

 There are existing floats to the north and south of the application area, which are used
for private moorage of the owner’s boats.

 The nearest public access to the foreshore is approximately 150m South East of the
application area to the east of lot 6, DL 4552, VAP13302. There is no publicly used beach
in front of the subject lot or on any of the adjacent lots. The waterfront is composed of
solid granite.

Attachment B

84



 The dimensions of the float fronting SL2 will be approximately 18.3 metres long and 3.4
metres wide. The float will consist of wood over contained flotation blocks. The float will
be held in position by either pilings if ground is soft or otherwise with concrete anchors
and steel chain. The anchors will be placed from the dock back towards the shore for a
distance of approximately 6m and are to be kept within the proposed tenure area.

 The ramp/pier fronting SL2 will each respectively be approximately 12.0 metres long
and 1.2 metres wide, made of aluminium. There will be two concrete trestles
constructed to hold up the pier, as shown in Site Plan D. These consist of a concrete
footing with posts and a beam.

 Minimal ground disturbance is expected; when pilings are driven into soft ground or
alternatively as anchors are dropped to the seabed.

 The dock and related structures are proposed to be constructed within 12‐24 months of
having been granted the licence.

 The lot is flanked on each side by R‐2 zoned sites with the northerly site “Common
Strata Property” having an existing ramp and float and the southerly site “SL1” having
an existing ramp and float with semi‐enclosed boat house.

Section C – Additional Information. 

1. Environmental

The owners will moor their boats at the float and use it during the boating season. 
Atmospheric impact will be minimal, some exhaust and motor noise when leaving and 
arriving at the float. I am not qualified to give an opinion on the impact of the proposed 
dock on the aquatic zone and fish habitat. 

2. Socio‐Community

The property lies within the Sunshine Coast Regional District. The existing land use in the 
area is waterfront residential homes. The existing upland zoning is R‐2, which allows for a 
single family dwelling. The existing water zoning is W1, which permits one mooring facility 
for pleasure craft. 

First Nations have not been contacted regarding this application. 

Owner(s):  Dana Brynelson 
5383 Sans Souci Road 
Halfmoon Bay, BC 
V0N 1Y2 

     Our File:  15117‐609 (2) 

85



__________________________ 
Seamus Pope, BCLS 

86



87



88



Box 61 Sechelt, BC 
V0N‐3A0 604 885 3237 

seamus@straitlandsurveying.com 

Integrated Land Management Bureau 
Ministry of Forests Lands and Natural Resource Operations 
#200 – 10428 153rd Street 
Surrey, B.C. 
V3R 1E1 

February 22, 2017 

Re:  Application for Specific Permission for Private Moorage Fronting 
Common Strata Property, DL 4552, Strata Plan BCS3893, Halfmoon Bay, BC. 

Dear Sir, Ms; 

I wish to submit the following management plan on behalf of the owners of the above noted 
Property: 

Section A – Project Overview. 

 The lot owners wish to apply for specific permission for private moorage to encompass
an existing private dock, consisting of an aluminium ramp and a wood float over steel
frame with foam flotation blocks on the foreshore fronting their upland property for the
purpose of mooring their boat, and to provide moorage for guests.

 There will be no commercial uses of the moorage.
 The site is located in Secret Cove, Common Strata Property, DL 4552, Strata Plan

BCS3893. The civic address is adjacent to 5385 Sans Souci Road. It is important to note
for this application that the upland parcel has no dedicated road access, and is
considered water access only.

 The existing structures and access are as shown on the accompanying sketches.

Section B – Project Details. 

 The site will be used for the private moorage of boats owned by the upland owner and
family.

 There are existing floats to the north and south of the application area, which are used
for private moorage of the owner’s boats.

 The nearest public access to the foreshore is approximately 150m South East of the
application area to the east of lot 6, DL 4552, 13302. There is no publicly used beach in
front of the subject lot or on any of the adjacent lots. The waterfront is composed of
solid granite.

Attachment C

89



 The dimensions of the float fronting the common property are 24.1 metres long and 5.1
metres wide. The float consists of wood over a steel frame and foam flotation blocks.
The float is held in position by a steel piling and concrete anchors and steel chain.

 The ramp/pier fronting the common property is 12.0 metres long and 1.2 metres wide,
made of aluminium. The existing pier is held in place by a trestle system consisting of a
concrete footing with 6x6 posts, 2x8 braces & 6x6 beams. These are all composed of
pressure treated wood.

 The lot is flanked on each side by R‐2 zoned sites with the northerly site ‘lot 11’ having
an existing ramp, boathouse and float.

Section C – Additional Information. 

1. Environmental

The owners will moor their boats at the float and use it during the boating season. 
Atmospheric impact will be minimal, some exhaust and motor noise when leaving and 
arriving at the float. I am not qualified to give an opinion on the impact of the existing dock 
on the aquatic zone and fish habitat. 

2. Socio‐Community

The property lies within the Sunshine Coast Regional District. The existing land use in the 
area is waterfront residential homes. The existing upland zoning is R‐2, which allows for a 
single family dwelling. The existing water zoning is W‐1, which permits one mooring facility 
for pleasure craft. 

First Nations have not been contacted regarding this application. 

Owner(s):  Dana Brynelsen & Denise Broderick‐Brynelson 
5383 Sans Souci Road 
Halfmoon Bay, BC 
V0N 1Y2 

Our File:  15117‐609 (3) 

__________________________ 
Seamus Pope, BCLS 

90



91



92



93



 

SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT STAFF REPORT 

  TO: Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 

AUTHOR: Julie Clark, Planner 

SUBJECT: PROVINCIAL REFERRAL CRN00085 FOR LOG HANDLING, STORAGE AND FLOATING 
WORK CAMP (TSAIN-KO / CAPACITY FOREST MANAGEMENT) – ELECTORAL AREA A 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. THAT the report titled Provincial Referral CRN00085 for Log Handling, Storage and 
Floating Work Camp (Tsain-Ko / Capacity Forest Management) – Electoral Area A be 
received;  

2. AND THAT the following comments be forwarded to the Ministry of Forests, Lands, 
Natural Resource Operations and Rural Development: 

Subject to the following conditions, the Sunshine Coast Regional District has no 
objection to the proposed log handing facility located at Killam Bay, Provincial 
Referral Number 2412201:  

a. SCRD will require a building permit and/or a development variance permit if any 
structures are to be constructed to access the facility. 

b. An environmental monitoring plan should be implemented during the 
construction and operation of the site. 

c. Include potential navigational concerns resulting from escaped logs or related 
wood debris and the collection of any lost wood debris in the project 
management plan. 
 

d. Include measures to protect recreational and visual values in the project 
management plan. 

e. Ensure that shíshálh Nation’s comments are addressed and that any work 
undertaken complies with the Heritage Conservation Act. 

f. Any Critical Habitat such as eelgrass beds in or near the tenure area should be 
identified and protected. 

g. Water quality should not be impacted by log handling, camp operations, 
maintenance or construction activities, materials or fuel storage. 

h. Implement shíshálh Nation Best Management Practices for building and 
maintaining moorage facilities to protect the foreshore ecosystems. 

i. Complete restoration of the tenure area should be undertaken upon closure of 
the log booming sites, including the removal of all industrial equipment and 
potential contaminates to be disposed of in accordance with all provincial and 
SCRD regulations at the time. 

ANNEX F

94



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 
Provincial Referral CRN00085 for Log Handling, Storage and Floating Work 
Camp (Tsain-Ko / Capacity Forest Management) – Electoral Area A Page 2 of 6 
 

2019-July 11 PCDC report CRN00085 Log Handling (Tsain-Ko) 

 
3. AND THAT Comments from the SCRD Natural Resources Advisory Committee and 

the Egmont / Pender Harbour Advisory Planning Commission be provided to the 
Ministry; 
 

4. AND FURTHER THAT the recommendations be forwarded to the Regular Board 
meeting of July 11, 2019.   

BACKGROUND  

The SCRD received a Provincial referral from the Ministry of Forests, Lands, Natural Resource 
Operations and Rural Development (FLNRORD) to permit a log handling facility, including 
storage and a floating work camp. The facility is proposed to be located in Killam Bay, Jervis 
Inlet 5 kilometres north of the community of Egmont. (Figures 1 & 2). The referral package can 
be found in Attachment A. A location map and a plan of the facility and an application summary 
are provided below.  

The purpose of this report is to provide an analysis of the proposal and recommend a response 
to FLNRORD.  
Figure 1 – Location Map (placeholder for better map coming) 

 

 

95



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 
Provincial Referral CRN00085 for Log Handling, Storage and Floating Work 
Camp (Tsain-Ko / Capacity Forest Management) – Electoral Area A Page 3 of 6 
 

2019-July 11 PCDC report CRN00085 Log Handling (Tsain-Ko) 

Figure 2 –Facility Plan 

 

Table 1 - Application Summary 

Owner / Applicant:  Tsain-Ko Forestry Limited Partnership, Capacity Forest Management Ltd 

Purpose: Log handling, storage, floating work camp  

Tenure Type: License of Occupation  

Size: 24.6 ha 

Location: Killam Bay, Prince of Wales Reach, Jervis Inlet 

Legal Description: N/A 

Electoral Area: A – Egmont / Pender Harbour 

OCP Land Use: N/A 

Land Use Zone: RU2 (Rural Two) for adjacent upland parcels 

Comment deadline: August 2, 2019 

96



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 
Provincial Referral CRN00085 for Log Handling, Storage and Floating Work 
Camp (Tsain-Ko / Capacity Forest Management) – Electoral Area A Page 4 of 6 
 

2019-July 11 PCDC report CRN00085 Log Handling (Tsain-Ko) 

DISCUSSION 

The proposed log handling facility and floating work camp is located at Killam Bay, within the 
shíshálh swiya on the east side of the Prince of Wales Reach in Jervis Inlet, approximately 5 
kilometres north of the community of Egmont.  The applicant is requesting a License of 
Occupation on the ocean for 2-5 years in relation to a heli-logging operation on the upland. 

The area is frequently used by members of the shíshálh Nation and the public for oyster 
harvesting, fishing and recreation purposes. Additionally, other private landowners and license 
holders use the area. There is a private moorage attached to a private property located just 
north of the proposed site. Lafarge Canada Inc. holds a light industrial license and operates in 
Killam Bay, less than one hundred metres south of the proposed site. The Province of British 
Columbia holds a mineral reserve license in the vicinity and the area is used by a licensed guide 
outfitter as well as a by a sea plane company. Once it is constructed, the proposed site will be 
visible from the Earl’s Cove-Saltery Bay ferry route. 

Capacity Forest Management Ltd (CFM) coordinates and manages the timber harvesting 
program on this site behalf of Tsain-Ko Forest Limited Partnership. This specific proposal is to 
heli-log blocks of second growth Douglas Fir, Western Red Cedar and Hemlock and requires 
the construction of temporary facilities in Killam Bay for log storage, 2 helicopter drop zones and 
a floating accommodation for workers. 

SCRD Official Community Plan and Zoning Analysis 

The subject area does not have a land use designation as it is outside the boundaries of any 
Official Community Plan of the SCRD. OCP policies are not applicable in this area. 

The surface of water of the subject area is not zoned under Zoning Bylaw No. 337. The adjacent 
upland areas are zoned RU2 (Rural Resource), which permits a wide range of rural uses 
including forest management, manufacturing, storage, construction camp and sawmill. Where 
the water is not zoned, the foreshore use should reflect the upland use. Log handling and 
storage is part of forest management operation that is a permitted use. This application appears 
to comply with the upland RU2 zoning. 

The floating accommodation for workers is noted to not have a dock proposed. If a means to 
access the foreshore is constructed, shíshálh Nation best management practices for building 
and maintaining moorage facilities should be implemented.  

Ecological and Cultural Impact Analysis 

In advance of the application to the Province for a License of Occupation, the applicant 
completed a desktop analysis of marine ecosystems in consultation with a Registered 
Professional Biologist. They also conducted a Preliminary Archeological Field Review (PAFR), 
with an archeologist, in consultation with the Nation. The findings of these analyses prompted 
the applicant to move the location of the proposed site by 700m to the north to minimize risk to 
the shore area of Killam Bay.  

Moving forward the applicant should ensure that the shíshálh Nation is kept informed and any 
work undertaken complies with the Heritage Conservation Act. 

 

97



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 
Provincial Referral CRN00085 for Log Handling, Storage and Floating Work 
Camp (Tsain-Ko / Capacity Forest Management) – Electoral Area A Page 5 of 6 
 

2019-July 11 PCDC report CRN00085 Log Handling (Tsain-Ko) 

Staff recognize Tsain Ko / CFM’s’s efforts to plan using multiple best practice guidelines to 
reduce impacts to habitats, wildlife, acknowledge their responsibilities to the Fisheries Act, 
Policy for the Management of Fish Habitat, the Canadian Environmental Assessment Act, the 
Species at Risk Act, the Wildlife Act, and Navigable Waters Act. The Management Plan 
indicates that if the mitigation measures detailed in the report are implemented and maintained 
properly throughout the duration of the project, serious harm to the marine environment may be 
avoided. Measures and standards to avoid and mitigate serious harm recommended in this 
report must be followed during the construction, operation, and decommissioning of the site. 
These measures and standards should be incorporated into an environmental monitoring plan. 

Staff have the following recommendations in addition to the management plan priorities 
regarding minimizing risk to the marine and upland ecosystems, and request that Tsain-Ko 
consider the following: 

• Marine discharge of grey and black water should only be considered if the appropriate 
permits and approvals of BC Ministry of Environment are in place. 

• That the timing window for nesting birds be added to the list of considerations and best 
management practices. 

• Eelgrass and other critical habitat data in this area is incomplete. Eelgrass beds / other 
critical habitat in or near the tenure area should be identified by field review and 
protected from the impacts of log handling, storage and the work camp. 

• Upon the closure of the log handling site, complete restoration of the tenure area should 
be established, including the removal of all equipment and potential contaminants 
including the removal / remediation of any woody debris that sinks to the ocean floor  

Jervis Inlet is frequented by recreational users. The recreational and visual resources within the 
area are important. The project management plan should include: 

• Measures to protect recreational and visual values of the work camp and log handling 
facilities.  

• Address potential navigational concerns resulting from escaped logs or related wood 
debris. Any lost wood debris should be collected. 

Should Tsain-Ko or CFM wish to build any structures to access the log handling facilities or the 
floating work camp, SCRD will also require a building permit and/or a development variance 
permit.   

Options 

The Province requests SCRD to decide on one of the following options in response to the 
referral:  

1. Interests unaffected 
2. No objection to approval of project 
3. No objection to approval of project subject to conditions 
4. Recommend refusal of project due to reasons 

 

Staff recommend Option 3, subject to comments outlined in the Recommendations. 

 

98



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 
Provincial Referral CRN00085 for Log Handling, Storage and Floating Work 
Camp (Tsain-Ko / Capacity Forest Management) – Electoral Area A Page 6 of 6 
 

2019-July 11 PCDC report CRN00085 Log Handling (Tsain-Ko) 

Consultation 

The Province referred this application to First Nations, SCRD and other agencies it identifies as 
appropriate. The applicant is responsible for advertising the application in a local paper to 
enable comments from the public. 

If meetings can be arranged within the short available window the proposal may be referred to 
the Natural Resources Advisory Committee (NRAC) and the Egmont / Pender Harbour Advisory 
Planning Commission for review. Advisory Committee comments will be forwarded to the 
Province by SCRD. 

Timeline for Next Steps 

The Province extended the deadline to comment on this application to August 2, 2019 in order 
to obtain an SCRD Board Resolution. The Resolution will be forwarded to FLNRORD and final 
decision will be made by the Province.  

STRATEGIC PLAN AND RELATED POLICIES 

The following SCRD Strategic Plan objectives and success indicators relate to the subject of 
this report: 

• Create and use an “environmental lens” for planning, policy development, service 
delivery and monitoring. 

CONCLUSION 

The SCRD was provided an opportunity to comment on a Provincial referral to permit a log 
handling, storage and floating work camp facility at Killam Bay in Prince of Wales Reach, Jervis 
Inlet. The proposal was analyzed against applicable SCRD policies, bylaws and regulations.  

Staff recommend that SCRD respond to the Province with the option that the SCRD has no 
objection to the project subject to conditions identified in the management plan and this report, 
and that this recommendation be forwared to the Regular Board meeting on July 11, 2019.  

Attachments 

Attachment A – Referral Package 

 Reviewed by: 
Manager X - A. Allen Finance  
GM X - I. Hall Legislative  
A/CAO X – A. Legault Other  

99



Tracking Number: 100280058  |  Version 1.1  |  SubmiƩed Date: Feb 26, 2019 Page 1 of 4

Crown Land Tenure ApplicaƟon
Tracking Number: 100280058

Applicant InformaƟon

If approved, will the authorizaƟon be issued to
 an Individual or Company/OrganizaƟon?

Company/OrganizaƟon

What is your relaƟonship to the
company/organizaƟon?

Employee

APPLICANT COMPANY / ORGANIZATION CONTACT INFORMATION

Please enter the contact informaƟon of the Individual/OrganizaƟon who is acƟng on behalf of the applicant.
Name: Tsain‐Ko Development CorporaƟon
Doing Business As: Tsain‐Ko Development CorporaƟon
Phone: 250‐287‐2120 ext. 317
Fax: 250‐287‐2125
Email: recepƟon@capfor.ca
BC IncorporaƟon Number:
Extra Provincial Inc. No:
Society Number:
GST RegistraƟon Number:
Contact Name: Mark Siemens
Mailing Address: 1761 Redwood Street

Campbell River BC  v9w 3k7

CORRESPONDENCE E‐MAIL ADDRESS

If you would like to receive correspondence at a different email address than shown above, please provide the correspondence email
address here.  If leŌ blank, all correspondence will be sent to the above given email address.

Email: marksiemens@capfor.ca
Contact Name: Mark Siemens

ELIGIBILITY

QuesƟon Answer Warning

Do all applicants and co‐applicants meet the eligibility criteria
for the appropriate category as listed below?

Applicants and/or co‐applicants who are Individuals must:
1. be 19 years of age or older and
2. must be Canadian ciƟzens or permanent residents of
Canada. (Except if you are applying for a Private Moorage)

Applicants and/or co‐applicants who are OrganizaƟons must
either:

1. be incorporated or registered in BriƟsh Columbia
(CorporaƟons also include registered partnerships,
cooperaƟves, and non‐profit socieƟes which are formed
under the relevant Provincial statutes) or

2. First NaƟons who can apply through Band corporaƟons or
Indian Band and Tribal Councils (Band or Tribal Councils
require a Band Council ResoluƟon).

Yes

TECHNICAL INFORMATION

Please provide us with the following general informaƟon about you and your applicaƟon:

EXISTING TENURE DETAILS

Do you hold another Crown Land Tenure? No

Attachment A

100



Tracking Number: 100280058  |  Version 1.1  |  SubmiƩed Date: Feb 26, 2019 Page 2 of 4

ALL SEASONS RESORTS
The All Seasons Resorts Program serves to support the development of Alpine Ski and non‐ski resorts on Crown land. For more detailed
informaƟon on this program please see the operaƟonal policy and if you have further quesƟons please contact FrontCounter BC.

Are you applying within an alpine ski resort? No

WHAT IS YOUR INTENDED USE OF CROWN LAND?
Use the "Add Purpose" buƩon to select a proposed land use from the drop down menu. 
If you wish to use Crown land for a short term, low impact acƟvity you may not need to apply for tenure, you may be authorized under
the Permissions policy or Private Moorage policy. 
To determine if your use is permissible under the Land Act please refer to either the Land Use Policy ‐ Permissions or Land Use Policy ‐
Private Moorage located here.

Purpose Tenure Period

Log Handling
General log handling. Log Handling,
Storage, Camp‐Tie in relaƟon to
Helicopter Forest HarvesƟng

Licence of OccupaƟon Two to five years

ACCESS TO CROWN LAND

Please describe how you plan to access your
proposed crown land from the closest public
road:

Access to proposed crown land will be done exclusively via boat and helicopter
deparƟng from Jervis Inlet, Sechelt Inlet, Egmont, Powell River and Sechelt

LOG HANDLING

Specific Purpose: General log handling. Log Handling, Storage, Camp‐Tie in relaƟon to Helicopter
Forest HarvesƟng

Period: Two to five years
Tenure: Licence of OccupaƟon

TOTAL APPLICATION AREA
Please give us some informaƟon on the size of area you are applying for.

Please specify the area: 24.6 hectares

ADDITIONAL QUESTIONS
In many cases you might require other authorizaƟons or permits in order to complete your project. In order to make that determinaƟon
and point you in the right direcƟon please answer the quesƟons below. In addiƟon, your applicaƟon may be referred to other agencies
for comments. 
Is the Applicant or any Co‐Applicant or their Spouse(s) an employee
of the Provincial Government of BriƟsh Columbia?

No

Are you planning to cut Ɵmber on the Crown Land you are applying
for?

No

Are you planning to use an open fire to burn Ɵmber or other
materials?

No

Do you want to transport heavy equipment or materials on an
exisƟng forest road?

No

Are you planning to work in or around water? Yes

1. If you will be working in or around fresh water, you will require a Water Sustainability Act Change Approval or
NoƟficaƟon from the Province.2. The federal Department of Fisheries and Oceans might need to review your
project.3. Review the Transport Canada website if the NavigaƟon ProtecƟon Act applies.

Does your operaƟon fall within a park area? No

101



Tracking Number: 100280058  |  Version 1.1  |  SubmiƩed Date: Feb 26, 2019 Page 3 of 4

LOCATION INFORMATION

LAND DETAILS

DRAWINGS
Please provide informaƟon on the locaƟon and shape of your Crown land applicaƟon area. You can use one or more of the tools
provided. 

 I will upload files created from a Geographic InformaƟon System (GIS)

SPATIAL FILES
Do you have a spaƟal file from your GIS system? You can upload it here.

NOTE:  If uploading a .shp, please ensure that it is a polygon that has been projected in BC Albers in NAD83 format.

DescripƟon Filename Purpose

ApplicaƟon Area SHP file 1 of 7 Killam_Drop_Zone_ApplicaƟo... Log Handling

ApplicaƟon Area SHP file 2 of 7 Killam_Drop_Zone_ApplicaƟo... Log Handling

ApplicaƟon Area SHP file 3 of 7 Killam_Drop_Zone_ApplicaƟo... Log Handling

ApplicaƟon Area SHP file 4 of 7 Killam_Drop_Zone_ApplicaƟo... Log Handling

ApplicaƟon Area SHP file 5 of 7 Killam_Drop_Zone_ApplicaƟo... Log Handling

ApplicaƟon Area SHP file 6 of 7 Killam_Drop_Zone_ApplicaƟo... Log Handling

ApplicaƟon Area SHP file 7 of 7 Killam_Drop_Zone_ApplicaƟo... Log Handling

ATTACHED DOCUMENTS

Document Type DescripƟon Filename

General LocaƟon Map ApplicaƟon Overview Map 1:10,000 Killam_Heli_Drop_Zone_Appli...

Log Handling and Storage
Prospectus 

Killam Bay Log Handling and Storage Prospectus Killam Bay Prospectus ‐ Log...

Other ApplicaƟon Payment In Office/Egarms 1000001 2019‐02‐26 Egarms 1000001 C...

Other Management Plan ‐ Proposed Killam Bay Drop Zones
and Camp Tie Up

Drop Zone Management Plan K...

Other Sechelt NaƟon ‐ LeƩer of Non‐opposiƟon Tsain‐Ko LeƩer of Non‐Oppo...

Site Plan Camp Tie‐Up ConstrucƟon Plan 1:2,500 Killam_Heli_Camp_1_2_5K.pdf

102



Tracking Number: 100280058  |  Version 1.1  |  SubmiƩed Date: Feb 26, 2019 Page 4 of 4

Site Plan Drop Zone #1 ConstrucƟon Map 1:2,000 Killam_Drop_Zone_1_2K.pdf

Site Plan Drop Zone #2 ConstrucƟon Plan 1:2,000 Killam_Drop_Zone_2_2K.pdf

Site Plan Log Handling & Storage ConstrucƟon Plan 1:2,500 Killam_Log_Storage_Handling...

PRIVACY DECLARATION

 Check here to indicate that you have read and agree to the privacy declaraƟon stated above.

REFERRAL INFORMATION

Some applicaƟons may also be passed on to other agencies, ministries or other affected parƟes for referral or consultaƟon purposes. A
referral or noƟficaƟon is necessary when the approval of your applicaƟon might affect someone else's rights or resources or those of the
ciƟzens of BC. An example of someone who could receive your applicaƟon for referral purposes is a habitat officer who looks aŌer the
fish and wildlife in the area of your applicaƟon. This does not apply to all applicaƟons and is done only when required.

Please enter contact informaƟon below for the person who would best answer quesƟons about your applicaƟon that may arise from
anyone who received a referral or noƟficaƟon.

Company / OrganizaƟon: Tsain‐Ko Development CorporaƟon C/O Capacity Forest Management Ltd.
Contact Name: Mark Siemens
Contact Address: 1761 Redwood Street

Campbell River, BC
V9W 3K7

Contact Phone: 250‐287‐2120
Contact Email: marksiemens@capfor.ca

 I hereby consent to the disclosure of the informaƟon contained in this applicaƟon to other agencies, government ministries or
other affected parƟes for referral or First NaƟon consultaƟon purposes.

IMPORTANT NOTICES

 Once you click 'Next' the applicaƟon will be locked down and you will NOT be able to edit it any more.

DECLARATION
 By submiƫng this applicaƟon form, I, declare that the informaƟon contained on this  form is complete and accurate.

APPLICATION AND ASSOCIATED FEES

Item Amount Taxes Total Outstanding Balance

Crown Land Tenure ApplicaƟon Fee $1,000.00 GST @ 5%: $50.00 $1,050.00 $0.00

OFFICE

Office to submit applicaƟon to: Surrey

PROJECT INFORMATION

Is this applicaƟon for an acƟvity or project which
requires more than one natural resource
authorizaƟon from the Province of BC?

No

OFFICE USE ONLY
Office

Surrey
File Number Project Number

DisposiƟon ID Client Number

103



104



 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

105



 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

106



 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

107



 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

108



 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

109



 

 

110



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

111



112



113



114



115



116



S6

S6

S6
S6

S6

S6

S5

S5

S5

S6

S6

S6
S6S6S6

S6

S6

S5

# # #
>

>

o
o o

o o oo ooo

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

K
K

K KK

! (S

>

>>

K
IL

00
6H

K
IL

00
8H

K
IL

00
7H

K
IL

00
9H

K
IL

01
0H

K
IL

00
5H

C
am

p 
Ti

e-
U

p 
#1

Lo
g 

H
an

dl
in

g 
St

or
ag

e 
#1

D
ro

p 
Zo

ne
 #

2

D
ro

p 
Zo

ne
 #

1

460

54
0

820

480

560

620

68
0

400

600

660

20

100

960

360

140
160

70
0

64
0

860

740

90
0

320

800

840

980

300
60

220

580

80

1040

1020

200

260

280

1100

1060

94
0

1120

120

92
0

1080

880

420

11
40

380

76
0

10
00

1160

240

34
0

52
0

1200

180

780

44
0

40

50
0

720

1180

160

84
0

20

48
0

44
0

40

340

760

56
0

64
0

70
0

26
0

10
0

90
0

32
0

40

70
0

280

82
0

22
020
0

10
80

420

760

360

48
0

82
0

84
0

66
0

400

1040

26
0

360

86
0

400

50
0

76
0

860

200

160

78
0

120

18
0

52
0

38
0

80

600

720

72
0

60
0

20

660

1000

50
0

480

320

44
0

240

56
0

62
0

28
0

24
0

340

680

280

380

36
0

24
0

80

24
0

76
0

48
0

32
0

560

26
0

360

1060

780

300

600

60
0

14
0

46
0

920

74
0

200

12
00

140

880

440

940

78
0

72
0

28
0

58
0

46
0

300

74
0

220

660

80
0

380

60

56
0

68
0

980

100

64
0

520

80

540

360

260

500

440

420

220

720

580

88
0

780

16
0

120

62
0

56
0

160

68
0

780

52
0

20

180

18
0

10
0

64
0

12
0

40
0

68
074

0

800

42
0

640

540

340

56
0

620

54
0

70
0

580

60
76

0

66
0

20

1020

14
0

900

42
0

62
0

380

78
0

LI
G

H
T 

IN
D

U
ST

R
IA

L
01

99
83

4

PL
A

N
N

IN
G

/M
A

R
K

ET
IN

G
/D

EV
EL

O
P 

PR
O

JE
C

TS
24

09
06

7

PR
IV

AT
E 

M
O

O
R

A
G

E
24

04
93

7

Lo
g U

se
 A

re
a (

ha
)

Ap
pl

ica
tio

n 
Ar

ea
 (h

a)
3.

0
7.

6
4.

2
8.

7
1.

0
3.

1
1.

0
5.

2
9.

2
24

.6
To

ta
l A

re
a

Ca
m

p 
#1

Lo
g S

to
ra

ge
 H

an
dl

in
g #

1
Dr

op
 Zo

ne
 #1

Dr
op

 Zo
ne

 #1

Ki
lla

m
 P

ro
po

se
d 

Dr
op

 Z
on

es

Bl
oc

k
Ar

ea
KI

L0
05

H
1.

2
KI

L0
06

H
6.

4
KI

L0
07

H
4.

9
KI

L0
08

H
6.

2
KI

L0
09

H
1.

6
KI

L0
10

H
1.

6
To

ta
l

21
.9

Ki
lla

m
 P

ro
po

se
d 

He
li 

Ha
rv

es
tin

g

H
el

i D
ro

p 
Z

on
e 

A
pp

lic
at

io
n 

M
ap

Ts
ai

n-
K

o 
Fo

re
st

ry
De

ve
lo

pm
en

t C
or

po
ra

tio
n

Bl
oc

k 
In

fo
rm

at
io

n

En
gi

ne
er

ed
 B

lo
ck

s

W
et

la
nd

Ac
ce

ss
 M

an
ag

em
en

t

Pr
op

os
ed

 R
oa

d
Bu

ilt
 R

oa
d

Ba
se

 D
at

a La
ke

C
on

to
ur

D
ro

p 
Zo

ne
/ C

am
p 

Ti
e-

U
p 

/ 
Lo

g 
H

an
dl

in
g 

an
d 

S
to

ra
ge

Ap
pl

ic
at

io
n 

A
re

a

St
re

am

Ex
is

tin
g 

Le
as

es
 a

nd
 P

er
m

its

Pr
iv

at
e 

La
nd

±
1:

10
,0

00

Th
ur

sd
ay

, F
eb

ru
ar

y 
21

, 2
01

9
Ve

rs
io

n 
D

at
e:

C
om

pl
et

ed
 b

y:
  C

FM
M

ap
 C

oo
rd

in
at

es
: U

TM
 N

ad
 8

3 
Zo

ne
 9

P
ro

je
ct

io
n:

 B
C

 E
nv

iro
nm

en
t A

lb
er

s

10
0

0
10

0
20

0

M
et

er
s

Pr
ep

ar
ed

 B
y:

117



S5

! (

! (

! (

! (

5 
Bo

om
 S

tic
ks

5 Boom Sticks

3-
20

m
 

Bo
om

 S
tic

ks

3-
20

m
 

Bo
om

 S
tic

ks

72
m

 O
ff

 S
ho

re
 to

 
R

ea
ch

 D
ep

th
 >

30
m

17
7m

 @
23

6°

22
0m

 @
25

7°

124m @154°

Fl
oa

t &
A

nc
ho

r

Fl
oa

t &
A

nc
ho

r
Te

nu
re

 A
pp

lic
at

io
n 

Li
ne

/A
re

a

St
iff

 L
eg

s

St
iff

 L
eg

s

D
ro

p 
Zo

ne
 #

1
10

0m
 x

 1
00

m
1.

0 
ha

40

100

6080

140160

20

180

120

200

220

80

20

60

12
0

Ap
pl

ic
at

io
n 

A
re

a
3.

1 
ha

1:
2,

00
0

D
at

e:
 T

hu
rs

da
y,

 F
eb

ru
ar

y 
14

, 2
01

9
D

ra
w

n 
B

y:
 C

ap
ac

it
y 

Fo
re

st
 M

an
ag

em
en

t

Sc
al

eA
pp

lic
at

io
n 

ar
ea

D
ro

p 
Zo

ne
 A

re
a

Bo
om

 S
tic

k
Fl

oa
t

C
am

p 
A

re
a

¹
K

ill
am

 B
ay

 D
ro

p 
Zo

ne
 #

1

Ts
ai

n-
K

o 
Fo

re
st

ry
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t C

or
po

ra
tio

n

PO
C

N
 1

14
95

79
E 

53
25

20
Al

be
rs

 M
et

re
s

118



S6S5

S5

! (

! (

! (

! (27
5m

 @
 31

0°

11
6m

 @
 23

6°

236m @ 350°

D
ro

p 
Zo

ne
 #

2
10

0m
 x

 1
00

m
1.

0 
ha

5 Boom Stick
s

5 B
oo

m
 S

tic
ks

6-20m

Boom Sticks

6-20m

Boom Sticks

St
iff

 L
eg

s

St
iff

 L
eg

s

PO
C

N
 1

15
02

35
E 

53
38

79
Al

be
rs

 M
et

re
s

130m Off S
hore to

Reach Depth >30m

Te
nu

re 
App

lic
ati

on
 L

ine
/A

rea

Fl
oa

t &
A

nc
ho

r

Fl
oa

t &
A

nc
ho

r

A
pp

lic
at

io
n 

A
re

a
5.

2 
ha

60

40

20

80

12
0

14
0

16
0

10
0

18
0

20
0

60

80

80

40

20

12
0100

1:
2,

00
0

D
at

e:
 T

hu
rs

da
y,

 F
eb

ru
ar

y 
14

, 2
01

9
D

ra
w

n 
B

y:
 C

ap
ac

it
y 

Fo
re

st
 M

an
ag

em
en

t

Sc
al

eA
pp

lic
at

io
n 

ar
ea

D
ro

p 
Zo

ne
 A

re
a

Bo
om

 S
tic

k
Fl

oa
t

C
am

p 
A

re
a

¹
K

ill
am

 B
ay

 D
ro

p 
Zo

ne
 #

2

Ts
ai

n-
K

o 
Fo

re
st

ry
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t C

or
po

ra
tio

n

119



S6

S6

S6

! (

! (

10
0m

 O
ff

 S
ho

re
 to

 
R

ea
ch

 D
ep

th
 >

30
m

26
1m

 @
 2

63
°

21
9m

 @
 2

64
°

327m @ 174°

Ca
m

p 
#1

10
0m

 x
 3

00
m

3.
0 

ha

Fl
oa

t &
A

nc
ho

r Fl
oa

t &
A

nc
ho

r

Te
nu

re
 A

pp
lic

at
io

n 
Li

ne
/A

re
a

Ap
pl

ic
at

io
n 

A
re

a
7.

5 
ha

PO
C

N
 1

14
96

39
E 

53
32

94
Al

be
rs

 M
et

re
s

20

60

80

140

120

100

180

160

40

200

220

240

160

40

IN
VE

ST
IG

AT
IV

E 
PH

A
SE

24
08

55
5

A
pp

lic
at

io
n 

ar
ea

D
ro

p 
Zo

ne
 A

re
a

Bo
om

 S
tic

k
Fl

oa
t

C
am

p 
A

re
a

K
ill

am
 B

ay
 

C
am

p 
Ti

e-
U

p 
#1

Ts
ai

n-
K

o 
Fo

re
st

ry
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t C

or
po

ra
tio

n

O
th

er
 L

ea
se

s 
an

d 
Pe

rm
its

1:
2,

50
0

D
at

e:
 T

hu
rs

da
y,

 F
eb

ru
ar

y 
14

, 2
01

9
D

ra
w

n 
B

y:
 C

ap
ac

it
y 

Fo
re

st
 M

an
ag

em
en

t

Sc
al

e

¹

120



S6

! (

! (

10
7m

 O
ff

 S
ho

re
 to

R
ea

ch
 D

ep
th

 >
30

m

27
7m

 @
 2

60
°

23
8m

 @
 2

71
°

289m @ 175°

Lo
g 

St
or

ag
e 

H
an

dl
in

g 
#1

16
0m

 x
 2

60
m

4.
2 

ha

Fl
oa

t &
A

nc
ho

r

Fl
oa

t &
A

nc
ho

r

Te
nu

re
 A

pp
lic

at
io

n 
Li

ne
/A

re
a

Ap
pl

ic
tio

n 
A

re
a

8.
5 

ha

40

20

100

120

140

160

180

200

60

80

20

40 60

1:
2,

50
0

D
at

e:
 T

hu
rs

da
y,

 F
eb

ru
ar

y 
14

, 2
01

9
D

ra
w

n 
B

y:
 C

ap
ac

it
y 

Fo
re

st
 M

an
ag

em
en

t

Sc
al

eA
pp

lic
at

io
n 

ar
ea

D
ro

p 
Zo

ne
 A

re
a

Bo
om

 S
tic

k
Fl

oa
t

C
am

p 
A

re
a

¹

K
ill

am
 B

ay
 L

og
 S

to
ra

ge
H

an
dl

in
g 

#1

Ts
ai

n-
K

o 
Fo

re
st

ry
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t C

or
po

ra
tio

n

PO
C

N
 1

14
95

88
E 

53
28

76
Al

be
rs

 M
et

re
s

121



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT STAFF REPORT 

  TO: Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 

AUTHOR: Andrew Allen, Manager, Planning and Development  

SUBJECT: FRONTAGE WAIVER FRW00004 (CARROLL FOR WAKEFORD) – ELECTORAL AREA E 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

THAT the report titled Frontage Waiver FRW00004 (Carroll for Wakeford) – Electoral Area 
E be received;  

AND THAT the requirement for 10 percent perimeter road frontage for the proposed 
creation of Lots 1 – 7 in the subdivision of Lots D and E, NW 1/4 District Lot 908, Plan 
VAP21534 be waived. 

BACKGROUND 

The SCRD has received a Frontage Waiver Application in relation to a 15-lot subdivision at 
Castle and King Roads in Elphinstone (Attachment A). 

Section 512 of the Local Government Act requires that all new parcels have at least 10 percent 
of the perimeter fronting a public road unless a local government waives the requirement. 
Proposed Lots 1-7 each meet the zoning requirement of 2,000 square metres, however do not 
meet the frontage requirement of 10 percent of the perimeter fronting on to the road. Each of the 
parcels has over 20 metres of frontage and staff have no concerns relating to access or other 
parcel configuration. 

Figure 1 - Location of subject property 

 

Subject Property 

ANNEX G

122



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - July 11, 2019 
Frontage Waiver FRW00004 (Carroll for Wakeford) – Electoral Area E  Page 2 of 4 
 

FRW00004 Frontage Waiver Report PCDC Carroll for Wakeford 2019-Jul-11 

 

Table 1 - Application Summary 

Owner / Applicant: Lorne Carroll for Wakeford Developments   

Civic Address: Castle and King Roads 

Legal Description: Lots D and E, NW 1/4 District Lot 908, Plan VAP21534 

Electoral Area: E - Elphinstone 

Parcel Area: 4 ha  

OCP Land Use: Residential C 

Land Use Zone: Residential 2 (R2) 

Subdivision District: C - 2000 m² minimum parcel size 

Application Intent: 
To waive the requirements for 10% frontage along a public road for the proposed 
creation of Lots 1-7 in the 15 lot subdivision of Lots D and E, NW 1/4 District Lot 
908, Plan VAP21534 

The purpose of this report is to provide information on the application and obtain direction from 
the Planning and Community Development Committee. 

DISCUSSION 

Analysis 

The subject property is accessed by the upper part of King Road from Carmen Road, which 
meets Veterans Road at the intersection with Sunshine Coast Highway. The subdivision 
development also includes construction of Castle Road, which connects to the lower portion of 
King Road in proximity to Fitchett Road. 

There are two parent parcels with a total of close to 4 ha of land.  

The Elphinstone Advisory Planning Commission reviewed the application in November, 2018 
and recommended support for the application as it is consistent with the Official Community 
Plan. There was also a supplemental recommendation that the SCRD ask the Ministry of 
Transportation and Infrastructure to address access to and from the highway at the Carmen 
Road, Veterans Road and Highway 101 intersection. This was passed on to the Ministry for 
information.  

The Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure issued a Preliminary Layout Approval (PLA) on 
March 4, 2019 and the applicant continues to address conditions. Issuance of the PLA indicates 
that the Ministry has reviewed the layout and supports the configurations of the parcels as 
proposed.  

In additon to road construction, addressing climate resilience with road design and storm water 
management are requirements of the PLA. 

123



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - July 11, 2019 
Frontage Waiver FRW00004 (Carroll for Wakeford) – Electoral Area E  Page 3 of 4 
 

FRW00004 Frontage Waiver Report PCDC Carroll for Wakeford 2019-Jul-11 

Figure 2 - Aerial View of the Subject Property 

 

Options 

Possible options to consider: 

Option 1: Issue the frontage waiver.  

The proposed subdivision conforms to zoning regulations and issuance of the 
frontage waiver will enable the subdivision to proceed toward final approval. 

In this case the next step will be to install infrastructure servicing within the 
roadway, including watermains and underground hydro. 

Staff recommend this option as listed in the recommendation. 

Option 2: Deny the frontage waiver. 

The proposed subdivision could not proceed and would require a re-design. 

STRATEGIC PLAN AND RELATED POLICIES 

N/A 

124



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - July 11, 2019 
Frontage Waiver FRW00004 (Carroll for Wakeford) – Electoral Area E  Page 4 of 4 
 

FRW00004 Frontage Waiver Report PCDC Carroll for Wakeford 2019-Jul-11 

 

CONCLUSION 

A waiver for the 10 percent perimeter frontage requirement is required by the SCRD Board for 
the proposed subdivision to proceed.  

Staff support this application and recommend issuing a road frontage waiver for proposed Lots 
1-7, which will allow the subdivision to proceed and be considered for final approval by the 
Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure. 

ATTACHMENTS 

Attachment A – Subdivision Plan 
 

Reviewed by: 
Manager X – A. Allen Finance  
GM X – I. Hall Legislative  
A/CAO X – A. Legault Other  

 

125



Attachment A

126



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT STAFF REPORT 

TO: Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 

AUTHOR: Jonathan Jackson, Senior Planner  

SUBJECT: FRONTAGE WAIVER FRW00005 (LARGO ROAD COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT LTD) – 
ELECTORAL AREA D 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

THAT the report titled Frontage Waiver FRW00005 (Largo Road Community Development 
LTD) – Electoral Area D be received;  

AND THAT the requirement for 10 percent perimeter road frontage for the proposed 
creation of Lots 5 – 7 in the subdivision of Lot 6, Except Portions in Reference Plan 3805 
and Plan 9563, 11675 and 12209 Block A District Lot 809 Plan 8503 be waived. 

BACKGROUND 

The SCRD has received a Frontage Waiver Application in relation to a 13-lot subdivision at an 
unaddressed parcel known as Lot 6 Largo Road in Roberts Creek (Attachment A). 

Section 512 of the Local Government Act requires that all new parcels have at least 10 percent 
of the perimeter fronting a public road unless a local government waives the requirement. 
Proposed Lots 5 through 7 each meet the zoning requirement of having a minimum parcel area 
of 4,000 square metres with an average parcel size of 5,000 square metres, however do not 
meet the frontage requirement of 10 percent of the perimeter fronting on to the road. The 
parcels are located at the end of a proposed new cul-de-sac, with Lots 5 and 7 having 
panhandle accesses and Lot 6 having a narrower road frontage as a result of being located 
between the panhandles from the other two lots. Staff have no concerns relating to access or 
other parcel configuration. 

ANNEX H

127



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - July 11, 2019 
Frontage Waiver FRW00005 (Largo Road Community Development LTD) – Electoral Area 
D  Page 2 of 4 
 

2019-Jul-11 FRW00005 Frontage Waiver Report PCDC (Largo Road Community Development LTD) 

Figure 1 - Location of subject property 

 
 

Table 1 - Application Summary 

Owner / Applicant: Largo Road Community Development LTD 

Civic Address: Lot 6 Largo Road 

Legal Description: Lot 6, Except Portions in Reference Plan 3805 and Plan 9563, 11675 and 12209 
Block A District Lot 809 Plan 8503 

Electoral Area: D – Roberts Creek 

Parcel Area: 7.57 ha  

OCP Land Use: Residential C 

Land Use Zone: Residential 2 (R2) 

Subdivision District: E – 4,000 m² minimum parcel size (Average 5,000 square metres) 

Application Intent: 

To waive the requirements for 10% frontage along a public road for the proposed 
creation of Lots 5-7 in the 13 lot subdivision of Lot 6, Except Portions in 
Reference Plan 3805 and Plan 9563, 11675 and 12209 Block A District Lot 809 
Plan 8503 

The purpose of this report is to provide information on the application and obtain direction from 
the Planning and Community Development Committee. 

Subject Property 

128



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - July 11, 2019 
Frontage Waiver FRW00005 (Largo Road Community Development LTD) – Electoral Area 
D  Page 3 of 4 
 

2019-Jul-11 FRW00005 Frontage Waiver Report PCDC (Largo Road Community Development LTD) 

DISCUSSION 

Analysis 

The subject property is accessed by Largo Road, and includes construction of the middle 
section that will connect Lower Road at the south intersection with the Sunshine Coast Highway 
at the north intersection. The subdivision development also includes construction of a new cul-
de-sac road running east to west from Largo Road. 

There is one parent parcel totalling 7.57 hectares of land. (Attachment A). 

The Roberts Creek Advisory Planning Commission reviewed the application in November, 2018 
and did not have concern over the proposed lot configuration. The APC provided a 
recommendation regarding the need for park dedication, and staff developed parkland 
acquisition options which have been endorsed by SCRD Board and incorporated into the 
proposed subdivision. An additional recommendation was made by the APC requesting that 
traffic volume and safety be mitigated on Largo Road. SCRD Board additionally made this 
recommendation, which was passed on to the Approving Officer at the Ministry for information.  

The Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure issued a Preliminary Layout Approval (PLA) on 
May 27, 2019 and the applicant continues to address conditions. Issuance of the PLA indicates 
that the Ministry has reviewed the layout and supports the configurations of the parcels as 
proposed.  

In additon to road construction, addressing climate resilience with road design and storm water 
management are requirements of the PLA. 

Figure 2 - Aerial View of the Subject Property 

 

129



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - July 11, 2019 
Frontage Waiver FRW00005 (Largo Road Community Development LTD) – Electoral Area 
D  Page 4 of 4 
 

2019-Jul-11 FRW00005 Frontage Waiver Report PCDC (Largo Road Community Development LTD) 

Options 

Possible options to consider: 

Option 1: Issue the frontage waiver.  

The proposed subdivision conforms to zoning regulations and issuance of the 
frontage waiver will enable the subdivision to proceed toward final approval. 

In this case the next step will be to install infrastructure servicing within the 
roadway, including water mains and other similar services. 

Staff recommend this option as listed in the recommendation. 

Option 2: Deny the frontage waiver. 

The proposed subdivision could not proceed and would require a re-design. 

STRATEGIC PLAN AND RELATED POLICIES 

N/A 

CONCLUSION 

A waiver for the 10% perimeter frontage requirement is required by the SCRD Board for the 
proposed subdivision to proceed.  

Staff recommend issuing a road frontage waiver for proposed Lots 5 through 7, which will allow 
the subdivision to be considered for final approval by the Ministry of Transportation and 
Infrastructure. 

ATTACHMENTS 

Attachment A – Proposed Subdivision Plan 
 

Reviewed by: 
Manager X – A. Allen Finance  
GM X – I. Hall Legislative  
A/CAO X – A. Legault Other  

 

130



D

(S
EE

 P
O

ST
IN

G
PL

AN
 E

PP
10

25
6)

87
PL

AN
 7

93
1

16

17
PL

AN
 1

16
75

10"

20.121

90
° 5

9'
 2

0"

60
.2

39
18

PL
AN

 1
22

09

19
PL

AN
 1

22
09

20
PL

AN
 1

22
09

21
PL

AN
 1

22
09

22
PL

AN
 1

22
09

23
PL

AN
 1

22
09

TOP OF CLIFF

TOP OF CLIFF

R
 =

 1
5.

0
20

 m
 R

O
AD

20 m ROAD

TOE OF EAST CREEK BANK

TOE OF W
EST CREEK BANK

TO
P O

F

BANK

TO
TA

L 
AR

EA
 =

 7
40

2.
7 

m
²

N
ET

 A
R

EA
 =

 4
49

7.
9 

m
²

TO
TA

L 
AR

EA
 =

 9
94

8.
9 

m
²

N
ET

 A
R

EA
 =

  4
85

4.
5 

m
²

H
EA

LT
H

C
O

VE
N

AN
T

AR
EA

 =
 5

35
 m

²

N
O

TE
: A

R
EA

 P
R

O
PO

SE
D

 F
O

R
C

O
N

VE
R

SI
O

N
 T

O
 P

AR
K 

AF
TE

R
R

EG
IS

TR
AT

IO
N

 A
R

EA
  =

  ±
94

80
.8

 m
²

PROPOSED 4m SRW PLAN

20 m ROAD

9 
 

PL
AN

  

8

PARK

5

PL
AN

 B
C

P1
44

72

10
  

AR
EA

 =
 4

30
7.

2 
m

²

AR
EA

 =
 4

00
1 

m
²

3
AR

EA
 =

 4
05

7 
m

²

2

11

TO
E 

O
F 

DR
Y 

CR
EE

K

H
EA

LT
H

C
O

VE
N

AN
T

AR
EA

 =
 5

35
 m

²

H
EA

LT
H

C
O

VE
N

AN
T

AR
EA

 =
 5

35
 m

²

H
EA

LT
H

C
O

VE
N

AN
T

AR
EA

 =
 5

35
 m

²

H
EA

LT
H

C
O

VE
N

AN
T

AR
EA

 =
 5

35
 m

²

H
EA

LT
H

C
O

VE
N

AN
T

AR
EA

 =
 5

35
 m

²

H
EA

LT
H

C
O

VE
N

AN
T

AR
EA

 =
 5

35
 m

²
H

EA
LT

H
C

O
VE

N
AN

T
AR

EA
 =

 5
35

 m
²

H
EA

LT
H

C
O

VE
N

AN
T

AR
EA

 =
 5

35
 m

²

H
EA

LT
H

C
O

VE
N

AN
T

AR
EA

 =
 5

35
 m

²

H
EA

LT
H

C
O

VE
N

AN
T

AR
EA

 =
 5

35
 m

²

H
EA

LT
H

C
O

VE
N

AN
T

AR
EA

 =
 5

35
 m

²

H
EA

LT
H

C
O

VE
N

AN
T

AR
EA

 =
 5

35
 m

²

5
PL

AN
  8

50
3

4
PL

AN
 8

50
3

PLAN BCP14472

B

ROBERTS CREEK

L A R G O R O A D
D

L 
80

9

6

AR
EA

 =
 4

32
8 

m
²

AR
EA

 =
 4

30
7.

2 
m

²

AR
EA

 =
 4

00
1 

m
²

7

AR
EA

 =
 5

24
8 

m
²

4

AR
EA

 =
 4

30
7.

1 
m

²

1
13

12

AR
EA

 =
 4

00
1 

m
²

AR
EA

 =
 4

39
8 

m
²

PLAN BCP9035

AR
EA

 =
 6

33
5.

3 
m

²

PARK

11
AR

EA
 =

 5
09

4.
4 

m
²

12
AR

EA
 =

 2
90

4.
8 

m
²

PA
R

K

PA
R

K

R
O

R
R

2
R

R
3

R
O

13
AR

EA
 =

14
81

.6
 m

²

PA
R

K

15
m

 R
IP

AR
IA

N 
CO

VE
NA

NT

N
ET

 A
R

EA
 =

 4
85

3.
7 

m
²

be
nn

et
t

LA
N

D
 S

U
R

VE
YI

N
G

(S
U

N
SH

IN
E 

C
O

A
ST

) L
TD

.
BC

 L
AN

D
 S

U
R

VE
YO

R
S

63
4 

FA
R

N
H

AM
 R

O
AD

G
IB

SO
N

S,
 B

C
V0

N
 1

V8
TE

L 
60

4-
88

6-
25

31
w

w
w

.b
en

ne
tts

ur
ve

ys
.c

om

SK
ET

C
H

 O
F 

SU
B

D
IV

IS
IO

N
 P

LA
N

 O
F

LO
T 

6 
EX

C
EP

T 
PO

R
TI

O
N

S 
IN

R
EF

ER
EN

C
E 

PL
A

N
 3

80
5 

A
N

D
 P

LA
N

95
63

, 1
16

75
 A

N
D

 1
22

09
 B

LO
C

K
 A

 D
L

80
9 

G
1 

N
W

D
 P

LA
N

 8
50

3

10
5

25
0

AL
L 

D
IS

TA
N

C
ES

 A
R

E 
IN

 M
ET

R
ES

 A
N

D
 D

EC
IM

AL
S 

TH
ER

EO
F.

5

FB
__

 P
__

 (I
N

IT
IA

LS
)

D
:\A

00
10

-G
IB

SO
N

S 
FO

LD
ER

S\
90

24
7.

00
-L

O
T-

6-
LA

R
G

O
-R

O
AD

--R
O

BE
R

TS
-C

R
EE

K\
90

24
7.

00
-D

R
AW

IN
G

S\
90

24
7.

00
-L

AY
O

U
T\

SS
90

24
7 

R
2.

D
W

G

TH
IS

 P
LA

N
 L

IE
S 

W
IT

H
IN

 T
H

E
SU

N
SH

IN
E 

C
O

AS
T 

R
EG

IO
N

AL
 D

IS
TR

IC
T.

TH
E 

IN
TE

N
D

ED
 P

LO
T 

SI
ZE

 O
F 

TH
IS

 P
LA

N
 IS

 9
50

m
m

 IN
W

ID
TH

 B
Y 

56
0m

m
 IN

 H
EI

G
H

T 
(D

 S
IZ

E)
 W

H
EN

 P
LO

TT
ED

 A
T

A 
SC

AL
E 

O
F 

1:
50

0

SU
N

SH
IN

E 
C

O
AS

T 
R

EG
IO

N
AL

 D
IS

TR
IC

T
BC

G
S 

92
G

.0
42

TH
IS

 P
LA

N
 IS

 B
AS

ED
 O

N
 T

H
E 

FO
LL

O
W

IN
G

 L
AN

D
 T

IT
LE

AN
D

 S
U

R
VE

Y 
AU

TH
O

R
IT

Y 
O

F 
BC

 R
EC

O
R

D
S:

JA
VI

ER
 S

IU
, B

C
LS

 #
93

4
   

   
   

  D
AY

 O
F

,2
01

9.

TH
IS

 P
LA

N
 L

IE
S 

W
IT

H
IN

 T
H

E 
JU

R
IS

D
IC

TI
O

N
 O

F
AP

PR
O

VI
N

G
 O

FF
IC

ER
 F

O
R

 T
H

E 
M

IN
IS

TR
Y 

O
F

TR
AN

SP
O

R
TA

TI
O

N
 A

N
D

 IN
FR

AS
TR

U
C

TU
R

E.
M

oT
I F

IL
E 

N
U

M
BE

R

TH
IR

TE
EN

 C
O

VE
N

AN
TS

 IN
 T

H
E 

N
AM

E 
O

F 
VA

N
C

O
U

VE
R

C
O

AS
TA

L 
H

EA
LT

H
 L

O
C

AL
 T

R
U

ST
 IS

 A
 C

O
N

D
IT

IO
N

O
F 

AP
PR

O
VA

L 
FO

R
 T

H
IS

 S
U

BD
IV

IS
IO

N
.

131



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT STAFF REPORT  
   

TO: Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 

AUTHOR: Tracey Hincks, Executive Assistant 

SUBJECT: GIBSONS AND DISTRICT FIRE PROTECTION COMMISSION AMENDED TERMS OF 
REFERENCE  

 
RECOMMENDATION(S) 

THAT the report titled Gibsons and District Fire Protection Commission Amended Terms 
of Reference be received; 
 
AND THAT the Terms of Reference be approved subject to any feedback from the Town 
of Gibsons. 

 

BACKGROUND 

Over the years, the Gibsons and District Fire Protection Commission (G&DFPC) has discussed 
the mandate of the Commission and expressed interest in having formal Terms of Reference 
(TOR) to use as a guideline. 

DISCUSSION 

In May 2019, draft Terms of Reference were reviewed by the Commission and their feedback was 
incorporated into the document.  The TOR were then presented to the June 13, 2019 Planning 
and Community Development Committee and the following recommendation was subsequently 
adopted at the June 27, 2019 regular Board meeting: 
 
180/19 Recommendation No. 11 Gibsons and District Fire Protection Commission                      
  Terms of Reference 
 
 THAT the report titled Gibsons and District Fire Protection Commission Terms of 

Reference be received; 

 AND THAT the Terms of Reference be referred to staff for further edits as 
follows: 

• replace all instances of “Committee” with “Commission”. 
• edit section 1.1 (b) to add: “and make recommendations on policy direction 

for fire protection services in the area”.  
• strike out section 4.6 (e) “preserves and enhances the unique mix of natural 

ecosystems and green spaces in the SCRD.” 
• strike out section 4.5 (c) “report back to the appropriate Standing Committee 

and Regional District staff.”  
 
 AND FURTHER THAT the amended Terms of Reference be circulated to Fire 

Commission members and brought back to the next Planning and Community 
Development Committee before being forwarded to the Town of Gibsons. 

 

ANNEX I

132



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – July 11, 2019 
Gibsons and District Fire Protection Commission Terms of Reference  Page 2 of 2  

2019-JUL-11 staff rpt to PCD re Gibsons and District Fire Protection Commission amended Terms of Reference 

 
The TOR were updated accordingly and sent to Commission members for comment. The 
amended Gibsons and District Fire Protection Commission Terms of Reference is provided in 
Attachment “A” for approval. Staff recommend adoption of the TOR for the Gibsons and District 
Fire Protection Commission subject to any feedback received from the Town of Gibsons. 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN AND RELATED POLICIES 

Enhance Board Structure and Processes. 
 
CONCLUSION 

The Terms of Reference for the Gibsons and District Fire Protection Commission have been 
developed to assist Commission members with their role. Staff recommend that the amended 
Terms of Reference be approved, subject to any input from the Town of Gibsons. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

 
Attachment A: Gibsons and District Fire Protection Commission amended Terms of Reference 
 

Reviewed by: 
Manager  Finance  
GM  Legislative  
I/CAO X - A. Legault Other  

 
 
 

133



Approval Date: Resolution No. 

Amendment Date: Resolution No. 

Amendment Date: Resolution No. 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 

Gibsons and District Fire Protection Commission 

1. Purpose

1.1 The purpose of the Gibsons and District Fire Commission is to: 

a. Provide information to the elected officials located in the West Howe Sound Fire
Protection District.

b. Review the Gibsons Fire Protection strategic plan and five-year financial plan, prior
to November 30th and make recommendations on policy direction for fire protection
services in the area.

2. Duties

2.1 The Gibsons and District Fire Commission will: 

a. Meet when the need arises for information sharing concerning the Gibsons and
District Volunteer Fire Department administration.

b. Meet prior to November 30th of each year to review and discuss the Gibsons Fire
Protection annual budget.

3. Membership

3.1 The Gibsons and District Fire Commission is comprised of the following members: 

a. Two members of the Council of the Town of Gibsons.
b. Two Directors of the Sunshine Coast Regional District being the Directors

representing Electoral Areas of Elphinstone and West Howe Sound.
c. A Chair who shall be appointed annually by the members of the Commission at the

first meeting held each year.
d. Members shall be appointed annually.

3.2 Regional District staff may be assigned to serve in a liaison capacity. The role of the 
staff liaison may include: 

a. providing information and professional advice;
b. facilitating and/or co-chairing meetings;
c. assisting with writing reports and recommendations to the Board as requested by the

Commission;
d. bringing such matters to the Commission's attention as are appropriate for it to

consider in support of Regional District Board direction;
e. serving as one of the communication channels to and from the Board; and
f. providing advice to the Board that is at variance to a Commission recommendation.

Attachment A

134



 
4. Operations 

 
4.1 A majority of the voting members of the Commission, as listed in section 3 will constitute 

a quorum, providing that at least one member is from the Town of Gibsons and at least 
one member is from the Sunshine Coast Regional District. 

 
4.2 The Gibsons and District Fire Commission will meet as required at the Gibsons and 

District Volunteer Fire Hall, located at 790 North Road. 
  
4.3 All Commission meetings must be open to the public except where the Commission 

resolves to close a portion of it pursuant to Section 90 of the Community Charter. 
 
4.4 The authority of the Commission is limited as follows: 
 

a. The Gibsons and District Fire Commission does not have the authority to bind the 
SCRD or Town of Gibsons in any way, nor engage or otherwise contact third parties, 
consultants, organizations or authorities in a manner which may appear to be 
officially representing the SCRD or Town of Gibsons. 
 

b. The Gibsons and District Fire Commission may communicate with external 
organizations and agencies to collect information and make inquiries.  

 
c. Where the Gibsons and District Fire Commission wishes to express opinions or 

make recommendations to external organizations and agencies, it must first obtain 
authorization from the SCRD Board. 

 
4.5 Commission members are encouraged to: 
 

a. attend and participate in meetings of the Commission 
b. share experiences and ideas while maintaining an open mind to others’ perspectives  

 
4.6 In carrying out its mandate, the Commission will work towards conducting operations in 

a way that:  
 

a. improves the economic, environmental and social well-being for present and future 
generations;  

b. encourages and fosters community involvement;  
c. enhances the friendly, caring character of the community;  
d. maintains an open, accountable and effective operation;  
e. is consistent with the goals and objectives of the SCRD’s strategic plan; and 
f. recognizes advisory Commissions are one of many channels that the Regional 

Board may utilize to obtain opinions and advice when making decisions.  
 

4.7 The SCRD will provide a recording secretary whose duties will include: 
 

a. preparing meeting agendas and distributing them to the Commission members in 
advance of the meeting  

b. preparing minutes of all meetings using SCRD standard practices 
c. forwarding the minutes to the Commission Chair for review prior to submitting to the 

appropriate Standing Committee 

135



 

Approval Date:  Resolution No.  

Amendment Date:  Resolution No.  

Amendment Date:  Resolution No.  
 

d. forwarding the approved minutes to the Planning and Community Development 
Committee for further consideration, approval or information. 

 
4.8 Unless otherwise provided for, meetings shall be conducted in accordance with the rules 

of procedure set out in the Board Procedure Bylaw. 

4.9 Commission members are subject to the Conflict of Interest legislation outlined in 
Section 100 – 109 of the Community Charter.  The terms “Council” and “Commission” 
shall be interchangeable for the purpose of interpretation of these sections. 

 
4.10 Commission members must respect and maintain the confidentiality of the issues 

brought before them. 
 
4.11 Meetings may be called by any member. 
 
5. Reference Documents 

 
5.1 SCRD Procedure Bylaw No. 717 
5.2 Community Charter, Section 100 – 109 – Conflict of Interest 
5.3 Community Charter, Section 90 – Open/Closed Meetings 
5.4 SCRD Gibsons and District Fire Protection Commission Bylaw No. 448 
5.5 SCRD Gibsons / West Howe Sound Fire Protection Service Bylaw No. 1027 

 

136



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT  

AGRICULTURAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

June 11, 2019 

MINUTES FROM THE AGRICULTURAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE MEETING HELD IN THE CEDAR 
ROOM AT THE SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT OFFICES, 1975 FIELD ROAD, 
SECHELT, BC 

PRESENT: Chair David Morgan  
Members Faye Kiewitz  

Raquel Kolof 
Jon Bell 
Gerald Rainville 

ALSO PRESENT: Director, Electoral Area F Mark Hiltz 
Director, Electoral Area E Donna McMahon  
General Manager, Planning & Development  Ian Hall (part) 
General Manager, Infrastructure Services Remko Rosenboom (part) 
Manager, Planning & Community Development Andrew Allen  
Recorder Genevieve Dixon 
Public 1 

REGRETS: Members Paul Nash  
Erin Dutton  
Barbara Seed 
Gretchen Bozak 

ABSENT: Members 

CALL TO ORDER  3:31 p.m. 

AGENDA The agenda was adopted as presented. 

MINUTES 

Recommendation No. 1 AAC Meeting Minutes for April 23, 2019 

The Agricultural Advisory Committee recommended that the meeting minutes of April 23, 
2019 be amended and read as follows:

Under Agricultural Water Use Study Pg.2 
Irrigation Course offered by Irrigation Industry Association of BC was cancelled, only one 
applicant. AAC requests the SSCFI look into running the course.  

ANNEX J

137



Agricultural Advisory Committee Meeting Minutes – June 11, 2019 Page 2 

BUSINESS ARISING FROM MINUTES AND UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

Agricultural Land Commission Forum 

 Manager, Planning and Development gave a briefing on highlights from the forum.
 Mobile home for farm use is no longer a permitted use.
 Bill 15 will declassify farmers from making an exclusion application, local government would

have to carry application on their behalf.
 ALC prefer that cannabis may be grown in ALR that is soil bound, inside a greenhouse, a

greenhouse cover or in a field.
 Ministry of Agriculture will allow the large industrial licensed producers. ALC won’t object.
 Ag zone regulates on the southern part of the Coast.

REPORTS 

Agricultural Land Use Inventory and Water Demand Model (Ministry of Agriculture) 

Key points of discussion: 

 General Manager, Planning and Development gave an introduction on the report presented to the
SCRD Infrastructure Services Committee and SCRD Board.

 SCRD and Ministry of Agriculture will partner on this.
 A preliminary date of July 9th for a community awareness participation session involving the AAC,

more information to follow.
 How can the AAC assist the Ministry as this proceeds to best engage with the community?
 How best can the Ministry reach out to agricultural producers on the coast to invite participation

and involvement in the project?
 Land use survey is used mainly with mapping and driving around.
 Recommended to include farmers and ask what type of crops are being grown.
 Ministry of AG will review local farms.  A data sharing agreement with SCRD with support project.

Results are shared with the community.
 How is data validated?
 The Sunshine Coast Farmers Institute (SSCFI) could help with the data validation study for all

ALR land with permission from members.
 The SSCFI would be interested in attending the July 9th participation session.
 Ways to capture non ALR agricultural activity that have a farm class designation?
 Farm status is low around 20% and 50-60% are in the ALR.
 What is the completion date for the study? By the end of the summer.

NEW BUSINESS 

Notice of Motion 

Key points of discussion: 

 Cannabis may likely take over farm land instead of industrial land.
 Water usage for industrial non-soil cannabis production, is it mainly recycled?
 Export market for consumables CBD oil etc., how will it affect us?
 More land mass in the ALR then in industrial land.
 How many ALR parcels consisting of eight hectares are producing cannabis?
 What’s the ETA on new Bylaw 310? Likely 2020 Board adoption.
 Ministry of Agriculture will make higher level decisions.

138



Agricultural Advisory Committee Meeting Minutes – June 11, 2019 Page 3 

Recommendation No. 2 Notice of Motion – Cannabis Production in the ALR 

The Agricultural Advisory Committee requests that the Ministry of Agriculture and the Agricultural 
Land Commission consider a moratorium on all non-soil bound licensed dark site cannabis 
production in the ALR until such time as local governments can create or amend local bylaws and 
regulations.  

For additional information please refer to UBCM President Arjun Singh’s letter dated May 22, 2019: 
https://www.ubcm.ca/assets/Resolutions~and~Policy/Policy/Community~Safety/Marijuana~Regula
tion/2019-05-22%20UBCM%20Letter%20to%20Minister%20Donaldson%20-
%20Cannabis%20Production%20FINAL.pdf 

Public Participation at Agricultural Advisory Committee 

Key points of discussion: 
• Public are welcome to sit and observe, participation in the meeting is at discretion of the 

members and chair.
• Open meetings, per The Local Government Act, Community Charter, and AAC Terms of 

Reference.

• June agenda item: BC Chamber of Commerce letter to the Ministry of Agriculture.

• District A Farmers Institute is hosting a meeting on Bill 15 & 52 and have invited all 
Agricultural Advisory Committees to attend. In Nanaimo June 17, 2019 at 1:00 p.m. 
Information will be shared from attendees at next AAC meeting.

NEXT MEETING Tuesday, June 25, 2019 

ADJOURNMENT 5:03 p.m. 

139

https://www.ubcm.ca/assets/Resolutions~and~Policy/Policy/Community~Safety/Marijuana~Regulation/2019-05-22%20UBCM%20Letter%20to%20Minister%20Donaldson%20-%20Cannabis%20Production%20FINAL.pdf
https://www.ubcm.ca/assets/Resolutions~and~Policy/Policy/Community~Safety/Marijuana~Regulation/2019-05-22%20UBCM%20Letter%20to%20Minister%20Donaldson%20-%20Cannabis%20Production%20FINAL.pdf
https://www.ubcm.ca/assets/Resolutions~and~Policy/Policy/Community~Safety/Marijuana~Regulation/2019-05-22%20UBCM%20Letter%20to%20Minister%20Donaldson%20-%20Cannabis%20Production%20FINAL.pdf


SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT  

AGRICULTURAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

June 25, 2019 

MINUTES FROM THE AGRICULTURAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE MEETING HELD IN THE CEDAR 
ROOM AT THE SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT OFFICES, 1975 FIELD ROAD, 
SECHELT, BC 

PRESENT: Chair David Morgan  
Members Faye Kiewitz  

Raquel Kolof 
Gerald Rainville 
Paul Nash 
Erin Dutton 
Gretchen Bozak 

ALSO PRESENT: Director, Electoral Area F Mark Hiltz 
Director, Electoral Area E Donna McMahon 
Manager, Planning & Community Development Andrew Allen  
Planner Julie Clark 
Recorder Genevieve Dixon 
Public 1 

REGRETS: Members Barbara Seed 
Jon Bell 

CALL TO ORDER  3:32 p.m. 

AGENDA The agenda was adopted as presented. 

MINUTES 

Recommendation No. 1 AAC Meeting Minutes of June 11, 2019 

The Agricultural Advisory Committee recommended that the meeting minutes of June 11, 2019 
be adopted. 

NEW BUSINESS 

BC Chamber of Commerce Letter to Ministry of Agriculture 

Key points of discussion: 

• Farmers shouldn’t provide an avenue to remove ALR land.
• Concern about landowners not defined as persons in the act.
• Local governments can only apply for exclusion and appeal to the ALC on behalf of property

owners.
• Centralized authority regulations are approved in the City of Victoria not by Regional Boards as

before.
• It appears that the preliminary review of applications has been downloaded to the local

ANNEX K

140



Agricultural Advisory Committee Meeting Minutes – June 25, 2019 Page 2 
 

governments. If this is true, would the SCRD be in a position to determine which applications 
proceed to ALC and which do not? At the moment SCRD is an application portal for ALC and 
referral agency.  

• Grounds for appeal procedures in the courts. 
 

Recommendation No. 2 Agricultural Land Commission Legislation Changes to Bill 15  

The Agricultural Advisory Committee recommended that the Ministry of Agriculture and the 
Agricultural Land Commission recognize and include landowners, as defined persons under all ALC 
and ALR legislation; 
 
AND THAT owners of ALR land be provided the ability to apply for an appeal process for rejected 
applications from the ALC. 

District “A” Farmers Institute Meeting Regarding Bill 15 & Bill 52 
 
Key points of discussion: 
 

• June 9, 2019 at Nanaimo’s “Rusted Rake” farm. 50 farmers attended the meeting. 
• Primary concern over the non-approval of a secondary dwelling on farm land. 
• Temporary non-permanent secondary dwellings can be approved but not for family.  
• Landowners can’t sell food that is grown on farms, apart from alcohol producers that can. 
• 5300 sq. ft. rule on a single/second family dwelling combined.  
• 50 hectares required to approve second dwelling. 
• Taxation on alcohol production/sales on farms. 
• Long term farm/family help are no longer acceptable to approve secondary dwelling to 

accommodate help. 
• What is the status on cannabis facilities in the ALR with in the SCRD? 
• Foreseeable restriction within the Ag and industrial zones for non-soil based cannabis 

production facilities. 
• SCRD to provide the draft Bylaw 310 in the fall of 2019. 
• Ability to provide farm staff accommodations. 
• Housing shortage. 

 

Recommendation No. 3 Agricultural Land Commission Legislation Changes to Bill 52  

The Agricultural Advisory Committee recommended that, in order to promote economic viability of 
farm operations, a maximum two dwellings should be permitted on a parcel, not to exceed the 
current 500m2 floor area limit. 

Agricultural Land Use Inventory & Workshop Invitation to Members 

• Ministry of Agriculture argrologists will be on the Sunshine Coast from July 8 – 12th, 2019. 
• Collection of information will include: crop information, irrigation, livestock and land use for 

farming. 
• Tuesday, July 9, 2019 from 4 – 6:30 p.m. at the Roberts Creek Community Hall. 
• Invitation to farmers, landowners and producers. 

July agenda item – emergency planning for farmers and people with livestock. 

NEXT MEETING Tuesday, July 23, 2019  

ADJOURNMENT 4:45 p.m. 

141



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT  
NATURAL RESOURCE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

June 27, 2019 

MINUTES FROM THE NATURAL RESOURCES ADVISORY COMMITTEE MEETING HELD IN 
THE CEDAR ROOM AT THE SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT OFFICES, 1975 FIELD 
ROAD, SECHELT, BC 

PRESENT: Chair Gerald Shaffer  
Members Gordon Littlejohn 

Gordon Cassidy 
Shawna Van Poppelen 
Burt Meyers 

ALSO PRESENT: Electoral Area D Director Andreas Tize 
Electoral Area E Director Mark Hiltz 
Electoral Area F Director Donna McMahon (part) 
GM, Planning & Community Development Ian Hall 
Planner Julie Clark  
Planning Office Assistant/Recorder Genevieve Dixon 
Public 0 

REGRETS: Member Gordon White 
Anayansi Cohen-Fernandez 

ABSENT: Member Mariel Yglesias 

CALL TO ORDER  3:30 p.m. 

AGENDA  The agenda was adopted as presented. 

MINUTES 

Recommendation No. 1 NRAC Meeting Minutes of July 18, 2018 

The Natural Resource Advisory Committee recommended that the meeting minutes of July 
18, 2018 be received and approved.   

REPORTS 

BC Timber Sales (BCTS) Operations Plan 2019 – 2023 

The SCRD Planner provided an overview of the report to the committee. 

ANNEX L

142



Natural Resource Advisory Committee Meeting Minutes – June 27, 2019 Page 2 
 
Key points of discussion: 

• Due to complex subject matter, some NRAC members requested more time to review 
the report in order make a decision. 
 

• The staff report does not discuss what the actual impacts would be to the Egmont area: 
o What type of logging is proposed for each block? 
o Has an environment assessment been completed? 
o What will be the impact on the species at risk?  
o Would future SCRD recreation trail development plans be impacted by this 

cutting?  
 

• Concern about logging up to the access trail to Skookumchuck Narrows area and the 
impact on local recreation and tourism 
 

• What is typically included in the referral to SCRD? 
o BCTS maps (proposed cut blocks, recently logged cutblocks and proposed road 

building), excel sheet list of cut blocks 
o New cut blocks have typically been added in the fifth year of the Operations Plan. 
o Is re-planting information included in the referral information provided? No. 
o Is respacing for tip for tip replanting included in the referral information provided? 

No. 
 

• Five years is a long plan to approve. 
 

• Have the residents of Egmont seen the Operations Plan? 
 

• Are aquifers protected when exposed? How are they dealt with?  
 

• Time of year is an important consideration regarding impacts to communities and 
tourism. 
 

Recommendation No. 2 BC Timber Sales (BCTS) Operations Plan 2019 - 2023 

The Natural Resource Advisory Committee recommended that the spatial data regarding Bio-
Inventory and wetland survey data be shared with NRAC. 

Recommendation No. 3 BC Timber Sales (BCTS) Operations Plan 2019 - 2023 

The Natural Resource Advisory Committee recommended that BCTS be requested to consider 
and be sensitive to tourism peak seasons in their operations. 

Recommendation No. 4 BC Timber Sales (BCTS) Operations Plan 2019 - 2023 

The Natural Resource Advisory Committee recommended that BCTS be requested to provide 
the SCRD more details on the type of logging proposed such as tree species, type of block 
design, and type of equipment to be used. 

A survey of NRAC member’s availability will be conducted in order to set a start time for the July 
meeting. 

NEXT MEETING Wednesday, July 17, 2019 

ADJOURNMENT 4:38 p.m. 
143



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT 

AREA A - EGMONT/PENDER HARBOUR 
 ADVISORY PLANNING COMMISSION 

June 19, 2019 

RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE AREA ‘A’ ADVISORY PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 
HELD AT THE PENDER HARBOUR SECONDARY SCHOOL, 13639 SUNSHINE COAST 
HIGHWAY, MADEIRA PARK, BC 

PRESENT: Chair Alan Skelley 
Vice Chair Peter Robson 

Members Tom Silvey  
Gordon Politeski 
Janet Dickin  

ALSO PRESENT:  Recording Secretary Kelly Kammerle 

REGRETS: Jane McOuat  
Yovhan Burega 
Catherine McEachern 
Sean McAllister 
Alex Thomson 
Dennis Burnham 
Gordon Littlejohn 
Director Lee 

CALL TO ORDER 7:00 p.m. 

AGENDA The agenda was adopted as presented.

MINUTES 

Area A Minutes 

The Egmont/Pender Harbour (Area A) APC Minutes of May 29, 2019 were approved as 
circulated. 

The following minutes were received for information: 

 Roberts Creek (Area D) APC Minutes of May 13, 2019
 Planning and Community Development Committee Minutes of May 9, 2019

BUSINESS ARISING FROM MINUTES AND UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

The APC requests that a time line be set for a response to questions raised in its meeting of 
May 29, 2019. 

ANNEX M

144



Egmont/Pender Harbour (Area A) Advisory Planning Commission Minutes – June 19, 2019 
                Page 2 

 
REPORTS 
 
BC Timber Sales 2019-2023 Operations Plan 
 
The APC received BC Timber Sales 2019-2023 Operations Plan and support the concerns and 
recommendations in the SCRD report with additional recommendations:   
 

 Need substantial buffers so not to affect the view scape around the Skookumchuck and 
Suncoaster Trails. 

 Concern with the time frame and the lack of community consultation and presentation. 
 Particular concern over the extent of logging in the Egmont area and its likely effect on 

the economy of a community which relies heavily on tourism. 
 Concern that the BCTS seems to have abandoned the communication protocol in a rush 

to harvest cut blocks. 
 Harvesting should take place during off-peak tourist times, and harvesting methods 

should be identified in advance. 
 
The APC appreciates the efforts by the Planning Department to get a good comprehensive 
report completed in short order. 
 
DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
 
No Director’s report 
 
NEXT MEETING July 31, 2019   

ADJOURNMENT 7:50 p.m.  

 

145



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT 

AREA B - HALFMOON BAY 
ADVISORY PLANNING COMMISSION 

JUNE 25, 2019 
____________________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE AREA B ADVISORY PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 
HELD IN THE COOPERS GREEN COMMUNITY HALL AT COOPERS GREEN PARK, 5500 
FISHERMAN ROAD, HALFMOON BAY, BC 
____________________________________________________________________________ 

PRESENT: Chair Frank Belfry 
Members Guy Tremblay 

Alda Grames 
Jim Noon 
Nicole Huska 
Elise Rudland 
Marina Stjepovic 
Eleanor Lenz 

ALSO PRESENT Recording Secretary Carol Fisher 

REGRETS   Electoral Area B Director   Lori Pratt 
Members Lindsay Halls 

Bruce Thorpe 
Barbara Bolding 
Catherine Onzik 

_______________________________________________________________________ 

CALL TO ORDER 7:04 p.m. 

AGENDA The agenda was adopted as presented with an addition under New 
Business: Invasive Species.   

MINUTES 

Area B Minutes 

The Area B APC minutes of April 23, 2019 were adopted as presented. 

Minutes 

The following minutes were received for information: 

• Egmont/Pender Harbour (Area A) APC Minutes of April 24 & May 29, 2019
• Roberts Creek (Area D) APC Minutes of April 15 & May 13, 2019
• Elphinstone (Area E) APC Minutes of April 24, 2019
• West Howe Sound (Area F) APC Minutes of April 23, 2019
• Planning and Community Development Committee Minutes of April 11 &  May 9, 2019

ANNEX N

146



Halfmoon Bay (Area B) Advisory Planning Commission Minutes of June 25, 2019  Page 2 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
REPORTS 
 
Truman Road Beach Access Permit Cancellation (Electoral Area B) 
 
The APC discussed the staff report regarding the proposed improvements of the Crab Road 
right of way.   
 
The following comments were made: 
 

• SCRD decommissioned the boat ramp as it was not in safe use for the public or for the 
neighbourhood. 

• Truman Road is narrow, being 60 meters long and 3 meters wide and has been 
decommissioned. The stairway access has been removed. There has been no public 
consultation on the decommission. 

• The APC would like to hear what the neighbours of Truman Road and Crab Road 
opinions are. 

• APC should have been informed of the meeting advisory of Crab Road. 
• SCRD should consider comments from APC regarding an emergency access and the 

SCRD should have an evacuation plan especially for forest fires for the public and 
neighbourhood. 

• The APC would like to see the results of the neighbourhood survey for information. The 
report will go back to planning for information. 

 
Recommendation No. 1 Truman Road Beach Access Permit Cancellation 
 
The Halfmoon Bay Advisory Planning Commission recommended that the SCRD place a fence; 
hedging; rocks or an appropriate demarcation and signage along the property lines. 
 
 
BC Timber Sales (BCTS) Operations Plan 2019-2023 
 
The APC discussed the staff report, BCTS maps and provided comments to be forwarded to 
BCTS for consideration:   
 
The following comments were made: 
 

• APC discussed that BCTS would need to collaborate with the SCRD and Sunshine 
Coast Forest in regards to providing fire breaks and provide the services for urban 
interface planning. 

• Logging roads should have accesses marked out clearly and not decommissioned which 
is viable to be able to locate the roads especially for emergency vehicles and emergency 
personnel. 

• According to the Coastal Douglas Fir Ecosystem, 10% of all ecosystems must be kept 
and it has been noted that there is no lumber cutting west of the Sunshine Coast 
Highway. 

• APC would like to see the Advisory Committees’ comments on BCTS 2019 Operations 
Plan. There is no draft from 2019, only can see the comments from 2018. If there is a 
report from 2019, APC would like to see it to provide accurate recommendations on the 
BCTS Operations 2019-2023, 5 year plan. 

 

147



Halfmoon Bay (Area B) Advisory Planning Commission Minutes of June 25, 2019  Page 3 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
Recommendation No. 2 SRCD Evacuation Planning 
 
The Halfmoon Bay Advisory Planning Commission recommended that a full-time Disaster 
Coordinator provide insight on suggesting some type of evacuation route(s) and a fire plan as 
recommended in the Mitchell & Associates report. 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
Invasive Species 
 
The APC would like to receive the Invasive Species Management Strategies 2018 report. The 
APC has questions around disposal and composting of these types of plants. 
 
DIRECTORS REPORT 
 
No Directors Report. 
 
NEXT MEETING July 23, 2019 at 7:00 p.m. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 8:15 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
 

148



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT 

AREA E – ELPHINSTONE 
ADVISORY PLANNING COMMISSION 

June 26, 2019 

RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE AREA E ADVISORY PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 
HELD AT FRANK WEST HALL, 1224 CHASTER ROAD, ELPHINSTONE, BC  

PRESENT: Chair Mary Degan  
Members Dougald Macdonald 

Mike Doyle  
Rod Moorcroft 
Nara Brenchley 
Ken Carson  

ALSO PRESENT: Electoral Area E Director Donna McMahon 
Recording Secretary Diane Corbett 
Public 5 

REGRETS: Members Rick Horsley  
Sandra Cunningham 
Lynda Chamberlin 
Ann Cochran  
Bob Morris 

CALL TO ORDER 7:00 p.m. 

AGENDA The agenda was adopted as circulated. 

An attachment to the staff report on BC Timber Sales (BCTS) Operations 2019-2023 was 
received. 

MINUTES 

Area E Minutes  

The Area E APC minutes of April 24, 2019 were approved as circulated. 

Minutes  

The following minutes were received for information: 

• Egmont/Pender Harbour (Area A) APC Minutes of April 24 & May 29, 2019
• Halfmoon Bay (Area B) APC Minutes of April 23, 2019
• Roberts Creek (Area D) APC Minutes of April 15 & May 13, 2019
• West Howe Sound (Area F) APC Minutes of April 23, 2019
• Planning and Community Development Committee Minutes of April 11 & May 9, 2019

ANNEX O

149



Elphinstone (Area E) Advisory Planning Commission Minutes, June 26, 2019 Page 2 
 
BUSINESS ARISING FROM MINUTES AND UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

Elphinstone APC Minutes of April 24, 2019 

There was discussion about the process related to a section of the April APC minutes being 
expunged by an SCRD staff person under the Freedom of Information and Protection of 
Privacy Act (FOIPPA).  

A member requested clarity regarding minutes protocol, thus to be clear on the APC’s role. 
The member felt that a change of the APC minutes should be communicated by staff with 
the APC Chair, who could communicate with APC members. 

REPORTS 

Subdivision Application SD000060 (Caerus Construction Limited for Dempster)  

The APC discussed the staff report regarding Subdivision Application SD000060 (Caerus 
Construction Limited for Dempster) at Sunnyside Road, Gibsons. The following points were 
noted: 

• It is pretty straightforward. 
• It is aligned with the OCP and other bodies. 

Recommendation No. 1 Subdivision Application SD000060 (Caerus Construction Limited 
for Dempster) 

 
The Elphinstone Advisory Planning Commission recommended that Subdivision Application 
SD000060 be supported for the following reasons: 

• It is in alignment with the OCP. 
• The application meets all the criteria for a subdivision in this area. 
• The APC has no objection to this proceeding. 

BC Timber Sales (BCTS) Operations 2019-2023  

The APC discussed the staff report regarding BC Timber Sales (BCTS) Operations 2019-2023. 
The following concerns were noted: 

• We would be in a stronger position if we had an optimal use for the forest system. 
Engage with the Forests Ministry and First Nations to showcase this wonderful forest. 
Put a trail through, an easier trail than the Suncoaster Trail; build a few bridges. The 
value of selling logs would be offset by the trail system. Manage the forest for its 
remarkable qualities. Consider the value of tourism to the area. This could be a truly 
remarkable spot, good for generations to come. Identify the social value. For this 
particular band of forest, logging it is not the best use. There are better uses of the land. 

• We don’t have an overall land use plan that takes into account the local use and 
respects what the local people want to do with it. Thus it makes it difficult to ask for what 
we want. We need our land management plan. 

• We aren’t gaining anything out of this current sale and there is no value added. A trail 
system would create an attraction. 

• SCRD could make strong recommendations on the community interface area. 
• What detriment does logging do to lands below in terms of erosion? There is a negative 

impact if harvested, versus a positive impact regarding tourism. 

150



Elphinstone (Area E) Advisory Planning Commission Minutes, June 26, 2019 Page 3 
 

• Concern: even with all the forest fires, BCTS still tries to get their allowable yearly cut 
and doesn’t make allowance. 

The Chair invited questions or comments from members of the public. Comments included: 

• A resident from just below Reed Road forest listed local residents’ concerns around the 
issue of logging DL1313: water run off, impact on downhill wells, lack of having anything 
to walk in and enjoy, the beauty of it, all the wildlife and ecosystems. It affects house 
values; it affects an entire area. Everybody is worried, concerned. Farmers down the 
road are concerned. It is not that residents are against logging, but are against complete 
clear cutting. BCTS should listen to the community.  

• Need to scale things down a bit; you won’t be able to log at the same capacity with 
climate change, fires, and so on.  

• Sunshine Coast is tourism; people come here because of the forests and trails.  

Recommendation No. 2  BC Timber Sales (BCTS) Operations 2019-2023  

The Elphinstone Advisory Planning Commission recommended support for the 
recommendations as noted in the staff report of June 27, 2019, and support for the points 
expressed by the Elphinstone APC in the APC minutes of April 25, 2018: 

• Strong opposition in Area E to the logging of DL 1313. 
• BCTS has been notified for several years now that they need to take DL1313 off their list 

on a permanent basis. As world populations grow, so grow the Coast’s and Area E’s 
population. People and animals require green space and the Reed Road Forest is a true 
gem and the only substantial forest in our area. Immediate neighbours of Lot DL1313 
are very concerned about erosion and loss of watershed for their wells. They believe that 
their properties, downslope of this forest, would be at huge risk if the forest cover were 
logged. 

• Logging in an urban interface area is example of poor landscape management. 
• Discussion of BCTS operations and research projects and APC members’ 

perspectives on the recent BCTS workshops and field trip for SCRD advisory 
committee members. 

• Lack of a land and resource management plan on the Sunshine Coast. 
• The Sunshine Coast has old forests that may not be found anywhere else in the 

province. 
• There would probably be more value to the community over the next thirty years to 

retain the forest than have a revenue stream from forestry. This needs to be addressed 
in these plans. 

• We are short of land to be conserved, short changed. Would like the same 
conservancy rate as other areas of the province.  

• There are many and varied different forms of recreation here. Add up all the cash flows 
that result from keeping something like that, and it adds up. 

• They need to take all of these considerations into account. Overall the Province and 
their planning may not be reflecting what the values of this community are. They may 
not reflect in our bioregion how we are utilizing the woods. There are different ways we 
might be utilizing the woods as a community. We are the back yard and playground for 
the Lower Mainland. We can provide a lot of unique things like the Coastal Douglas Fir 
zone that isn’t available in other parts of the province. There are things like that that 
need to be taken into consideration when they consider that value, and what is 
generated for the province financially and overall. We are providing safe spaces for 
people to be doing healthy recreation. 

• There is a huge appetite for what we have got over here. If you are going to start 

151



Elphinstone (Area E) Advisory Planning Commission Minutes, June 26, 2019 Page 4 
 

chopping down a mountain, could it have an impact on real estate values? 
• The SCRD’s response to this issue is lukewarm. They should say that we need this 

much public recreation space; the forest is really important and we have to protect 
that. SCRD should say we see advantages for protecting certain lots, and come forth 
with stronger arguments. Need to bring everybody together and say long term this is 
what we will do. 

• Right now it is a standoff, not a process. 
• Want BCTS to leave the south and east flanks of Mount Elphinstone. 
• An excerpt pertaining to District Lot 1313 from the Elphinstone Official Community Plan 

(Bylaw No. 600) was read aloud from Section B-10.3 Community and Regional Park 
Policies, point 3, advocating that the SCRD acquire DL 1313 (Old Gibsons Watershed 
Reserve), a 48 hectare (120 acre) site “covered by the largest areas of mature 
coniferous forest and wetland identified in the Sunshine Coast Sensitive Ecosystem 
Inventory (2003) within the Elphinstone OCP”, as a community or regional park “that 
protects the surface and ground water resources so that they can continue to be 
available to the Town of Gibsons and the Regional District for community water and 
reservoir purposes.” 

NEW BUSINESS 

Discussion of APC Meeting Attendance 

There was discussion of potential protocols to apply in the case of the repeated absence from 
APC meetings of an APC member. There was a general consensus that the Chair contact 
members absent for more than three consecutive meetings to inquire of their continued interest 
in participation on the Advisory Planning Commission. 

Recommendation No. 3  Advisory Planning Commission Meeting Attendance 

The Elphinstone Advisory Planning Commission recommended that the Sunshine Coast 
Regional District put an attendance clause in the APC Bylaw No. 453. 

DIRECTOR’S REPORT 

The Director’s report was received.  

NEXT MEETING July 24, 2019  (No meeting scheduled in August) 

ADJOURNMENT 8:15 p.m. 

 

152



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT 

AREA F – WEST HOWE SOUND 
ADVISORY PLANNING COMMISSION 

June 25, 2019 

RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE WEST HOWE SOUND (AREA F) ADVISORY PLANNING 
COMMISSION MEETING HELD AT ERIC CARDINALL HALL, 930 CHAMBERLIN ROAD, 
WEST HOWE SOUND, BC 

PRESENT: Chair Fred Gazeley 
Members Gretchen Bozack 

Susan Fitchett 

ALSO PRESENT: Director, Electoral Area F Mark Hiltz 
Applicant/Owner David Morgan 
Recording Secretary Diane Corbett 
Public 7 

REGRETS: Members Doug MacLennan 
Kate-Louise Stamford 
John Rogers 

ABSENT: Member Bob Small 

CALL TO ORDER  7:10 p.m. 

AGENDA   The agenda was adopted as presented.  

MINUTES 

West Howe Sound (Area F) Minutes  

The West Howe Sound (Area F) APC minutes of April 23, 2019 were approved as circulated. 

Minutes  

The following minutes were received for information: 

• Egmont/Pender Harbour (Area A) APC Minutes of April 24 & May 29, 2019
• Halfmoon Bay (Area B) APC Minutes of April 23, 2019
• Roberts Creek (Area D) APC Minutes of April 15 & May 13, 2019
• Elphinstone (Area E) APC Minutes of April 24, 2019
• Planning and Community Development Committee Minutes of April 11 & May 9, 2019

REPORTS 

Application for Land Exclusion from and Inclusion into the Agricultural Land Reserve for Morgan 
Property (ALC Application 58605)  

ANNEX P

153



West Howe Sound (Area F) Advisory Planning Commission Minutes - June 25, 2019 Page 2 
 
The Applicant provided background information regarding: a previous ALR-non ALR land swap 
on the adjacent property; the request to exclude land in the area closest to services, where the 
applicant intended to construct a residence for a family member, and to remove the need to 
construct an access road through the ALR to the currently designated non-ALR land; 
inaccuracies in records from BC Assessment and the Agricultural Land Commission; agrology 
reports; recent process and actions followed regarding the application. The applicant noted that 
the inclusion-exclusion proposal was an even trade of 1.16 hectares and would create a 
contiguous agricultural swath with the adjacent property. 

The Chair invited members of the public to comment or question the applicant. Points noted 
included: 

• Concern and resulting confusion about discrepancies of size of lands proposed to be 
included/excluded as indicated in written materials. 

• Sense that there was no process for hearing views of the concerned public. “We didn’t 
see a clear process for the community to understand what was going on, and have 
access to that process in any way, shape or form.” 

• Experience of the public at the March 2019 meeting of the Agricultural Advisory 
Committee. 

• Optics regarding the process: the application was advertised in a newspaper that is not 
the main newspaper in circulation on the Sunshine Coast; “poster-size” notice was 
posted on Port Mellon highway in low visibility spot; how the process was conducted left 
concern about the end result and question as to the full extent of the proposed 
development. 

• Concern that the proposal would affect the community of YMCA Road by removing ALR 
land from the boundary closest to the residential area, which residents hoped would 
remain and flourish, potentially opening it up to “any kind of development”. Concern that 
the intent is to build more than just a house for a family member. 

• Concern about multiple ALR lots being removed from the ALR on the Sunshine Coast. 

The APC discussed the staff report regarding Application for Land Exclusion from and Inclusion 
into the Agricultural Land Reserve for Morgan Property (ALC Application 58605).  

The following points were noted: 

• An APC member, also on the Agricultural Advisory Committee (AAC), discussed the 
March 2019 AAC meeting at which the application was on the agenda. The public was in 
attendance but not allowed to speak to the application as it was understood by the AAC 
that there would be further opportunities for people to comment on the proposed 
development, and the AAC mandate was to look at the ALC application. The member 
perceived it was a mistake not letting the public speak at the AAC. It was noted that 
members of the public who live adjacent to the ALR should keep an eye on the ALR 
regulations, which often change; any number of things could happen, such as installation 
of a brewery. 

• It is an improvement to the agricultural land. 
• Planning and development applications may be required if the ALC allows the swap and 

the applicant proposes development. There may be opportunities for public input 
depending on the type of planning application. 

• The trade is a 1:1 swap. 
• The YMCA subdivision was a weird subdivision: the mill was expanding; it was outside 

of the fire district and many services but there was so much pressure for affordable 
housing. 

154



West Howe Sound (Area F) Advisory Planning Commission Minutes - June 25, 2019 Page 3 
 
Recommendation No. 1 Application for Land Exclusion from and Inclusion into the 

Agricultural Land Reserve for Morgan Property (ALC Application 
58605)  

 
The APC recommended that Application for Land Exclusion from and Inclusion into the 
Agricultural Land Reserve for Morgan Property (ALC Application 58605) be supported under 
conditions as noted in the staff report, and for the following reasons: 

• It is logical to take the non-agricultural piece out of the ALR and put in piece of higher 
class ALR land to create a contiguous swath.  

• The existing configuration would have to allow an access road into that non-ALR section, 
taking up agricultural land. 

• The non-ALR portion is near the creek; making the switch will protect the creek more. 

BC Timber Sales (BCTS) Operations 2019-2023  

The APC discussed the draft staff report regarding BC Timber Sales (BCTS) Operations 2019-
2023. The following points were noted: 

• Appreciation that the Ministry is sharing the information with local governments. 
• The comments from last year are equally effective this year. 
• We can’t keep putting crown land aside for other uses; need to keep some for revenue 

as well. 
• The draft staff report of June 27, 2019 was not included in staff report. 
• One of the biggest risks to any urban forest is invasive species.  

Recommendation No. 2  BC Timber Sales (BCTS) Operations 2019-2023  

The APC recommended that, although the draft staff report to the June 27, 2019 Corporate and 
Administrative Services Committee on BC Timber Sales (BCTS) Operations 2019-2023 was not 
included in the agenda package, the Director provided the report with recommendations and the 
APC agrees with the recommendations. 

DIRECTOR’S REPORT 

The Director’s report was received. 

NEXT MEETING July 23, 2019 

ADJOURNMENT  9:15 p.m. 

155



ANNEX Q

156


	ANNEX A - 2019-July11-PCDC report ALR00010 Morgan
	ANNEX B - 2019-JUL-11 PCD Department - 2019 Q2 Report
	ANNEX C - 2019-JUL-11 PCDC Staff Report MOTI MOU Active Transportation
	ANNEX D - 2019-July-11 PCDC Report-BYL310.187 (Morrissey)
	ANNEX E - 2019-Jul-11 PCDC report Private Moorage (Pope-Brynelsen)
	ANNEX F - 2019-July-11 PCDC Log Handling and Work Camp (Capacity Forest Management forTsain Ko) - COMBINED FINAL
	ANNEX G - FRW00004 Frontage Waiver Report PCDC Carroll for Wakeford 2019-Jul-11
	ANNEX H - 2019-Jul-11  FRW00005 Frontage Waiver Report PCDC (Largo Road Community Development LTD)
	ANNEX I - 2019-JUL-11 staff rpt to PCD re Gibsons and District Fire Protection Commission amended Terms of Reference
	ANNEX J - 2019-JUN-11 AAC Meeting Minutes
	ANNEX K - 2019-JUN-25 AAC Meeting Minutes 
	ANNEX L - 2019-JUN-27 NRAC Meeting Minutes 
	ANNEX M - 2019-JUN-19 Area A APC Minutes
	ANNEX N - 2019-JUN-25 Area B APC Minutes
	ANNEX O - 2019-Jun-26 Area E APC Minutes 
	ANNEX P - 2019-JUN-25 Area F APC Minutes
	ANNEX Q - 2019-JUL-3 HMB Community Association Request for Letter of Support - SCCF Legacy Fund



